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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
x

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2017
OR

¨

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from ____ to ____

Commission File: Number 001-35980

NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

20-0094687

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

530 Fairview Avenue North
Seattle, Washington 98109
(Address of principal executive offices)

(206) 378-6266
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements
for the past 90 days. Yes ý
No ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files). Yes ý
No ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:
Large accelerated filer

¨

Non-accelerated filer

¨

Emerging growth company

ý

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Accelerated filer

ý

Smaller reporting company

¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes ¨

No ý

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act). ¨
As of May 1, 2017 there were 21,690,543 shares of registrant’s common stock outstanding.
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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value)
(Unaudited)
March 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

5,416

$

20,583

Short-term investments

51,724

53,453

Accounts receivable, net

16,728

22,193

Inventory

14,544

13,812

Prepaid expenses and other

3,953

3,744

Total current assets

92,365

113,785

143

143

13,657

12,158

368

287

Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

106,533

$

126,373

$

2,145

$

4,935

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue, current portion
Deferred rent, current portion
Lease financing obligations, current portion
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Deferred rent and other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt and lease financing obligations, net of current portion and debt issuance costs
Total liabilities

9,117

12,344

20,798

19,033

337

13

26

58

32,423

36,383

20,656

22,664

8,763

7,655

47,748

47,366

109,590

114,068

—

—

2

2

285,381

281,900

Commitment and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 15,000 shares authorized; none issued
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 150,000 shares authorized; 21,684 and 21,528 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

(48)

(57)

(288,392)

(269,540)

(3,057)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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106,533

12,305
$

126,373
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

Revenue:
Product and service

$

Collaboration
Total revenue

15,765

$

12,136

2,298

2,561

18,063

14,697

7,163

5,870

Costs and expenses:
Cost of product and service revenue
Research and development

10,801

7,208

Selling, general and administrative

17,565

14,904

Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations

35,529

27,982

(17,466)

(13,285)

Other income (expense):
Interest income

147

Interest expense

68

(1,501)

Other income (expense), net

(1,315)

13

Total other income (expense), net
Net loss before provision for income tax
Provision for income tax

(71)

(1,341)

(1,318)

(18,807)

(14,603)

(45)

Net loss
Net loss per share - basic and diluted

$

(18,852)

$

(14,603)

$

(0.87)

$

(0.74)

Weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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21,588

19,669
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Net loss

$

Change in unrealized gain or loss on short-term investments

2016

(18,852)

$

9

Comprehensive loss

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(18,843)

(14,603)
34

$

(14,569)
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

Operating activities
Net loss

$

(18,852)

$

(14,603)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense

814

692

2,267

1,927

Amortization of premium on short-term investments

89

70

Interest accrued on long-term debt

42

37

359

315

Conversion of accrued interest to long-term debt
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net

5,466

Inventory

(837)

Prepaid expenses and other

(193)

Other assets

4,198
(2,379)
758

(82)

—

Accounts payable

(2,103)

270

Accrued liabilities

(3,382)

Deferred revenue

(4,610)

(244)

Deferred rent and other liabilities

20,002

1,390

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

904

(15,266)

7,581

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment

(2,493)

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments
Proceeds from maturity of short-term investments
Purchases of short-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities

(828)

1,000

1,250

10,775

11,200

(10,125)

(12,450)

(843)

(828)

(32)

(68)

Financing activities
Repayment of lease financing obligations
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements of restricted stock units

(248)

—

Proceeds from issuance of common stock for employee stock purchase plan

926

767

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

288

269

Net cash provided by financing activities

934

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

968

(15,175)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

7,721

8

10

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period

20,583

End of period

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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5,416

21,856
$

29,587
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. Description of the Business
NanoString Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on June 20, 2003. The Company’s headquarters is located in
Seattle, Washington. The Company’s technology enables direct detection, identification and quantification of individual target molecules in a biological sample by
attaching a unique color coded fluorescent reporter to each target molecule of interest. The Company markets its proprietary nCounter Analysis System, consisting
of instruments and consumables, including its Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay, to academic, government and biopharmaceutical and clinical laboratory customers. In
addition, the Company is collaborating with multiple biopharma companies to develop companion diagnostic tests for various cancer therapies.
The Company has incurred losses to date and expects to incur additional losses in the foreseeable future. The Company continues to devote the majority
of its resources to the growth of its business in accordance with its business plan. The Company’s activities have been financed primarily through the sale of equity
securities and incurrence of indebtedness, and to a lesser extent, capital leases and other borrowings.
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date but does not
include all of the information and disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for annual
financial statements. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 . The
accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and U.S. GAAP for unaudited condensed consolidated financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
reflect all adjustments consisting of normal recurring adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s
financial position and results of its operations as of and for the periods presented.
Unless indicated otherwise, all amounts presented in financial tables are presented in thousands, except for per share and par value amounts.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The results of the
Company’s operations for the three month period ended March 31, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or for any other
period.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, (3)
the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. The Company generates the majority of its revenue from the sale of
products and services. The Company’s products consist of its proprietary nCounter Analysis Systems and related consumables. Services consist of extended
warranties and service fees for assay processing. A delivered product or service is considered to be a separate unit of accounting when it has value to the customer
on a stand-alone basis. Products or services have value on a stand-alone basis if they are sold separately by any vendor or the customer could resell the delivered
product.
Instruments, consumables and in vitro diagnostic kits are considered to be separate units of accounting as they are sold separately and revenue is
recognized upon transfer of ownership, which is generally upon shipment. Instrument revenue related to installation and calibration services is recognized when
services are rendered by the Company. Such services can also be provided by the Company’s distribution partners and other third parties. For instruments sold
solely to run Prosigna assays, training must be provided prior to instrument revenue recognition. Instrument revenue from leased instruments is recognized ratably
over the lease term.
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Service revenue is recognized when earned, which is generally upon the rendering of the related services. Service agreements and service fees for assay
processing are each considered separate units of accounting as they are sold separately. The Company offers service agreements on its nCounter Analysis Systems
for periods ranging from 12 to 36 months after the end of the standard 12 -month warranty period. Service agreements are generally separately priced. Revenue
from service agreements is deferred and recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the service period.
For arrangements with multiple deliverables, the Company allocates the agreement consideration at the inception of the agreement to the deliverables
based upon their relative selling prices. To date, selling prices have been established by reference to vendor specific objective evidence based on stand-alone sales
transactions for each deliverable. Vendor specific objective evidence is considered to have been established when a substantial majority of individual sales
transactions within the previous 12-month period fall within a reasonably narrow range, which the Company has defined to be plus or minus 15% of the median
sales price of actual stand-alone sales transactions. The Company uses its best estimate of selling price for individual deliverables when vendor specific objective
evidence or third-party evidence is unavailable. Allocated revenue is only recognized for each deliverable when the revenue recognition criteria have been met.
The Company enters into collaborative agreements that may generate upfront fees with subsequent milestone payments that may be earned upon
completion of development-related milestones. The Company is able to estimate the total cost of services under the arrangements and recognizes collaboration
revenue using a proportional performance model. Costs incurred to date compared to total expected costs are used to determine proportional performance, as this is
considered to be representative of the delivery of outputs under the arrangements. Revenue recognized at any point in time is limited to cash received and amounts
contractually due. Changes in estimates of total expected costs are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. From period to period, collaboration
revenue can fluctuate substantially based on the achievement of development-related milestones.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement
In July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) entitled “ASU 2015-11, Inventory –
Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory.” The standard requires entities to measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The Company
adopted ASU 2015-11 in the first quarter of 2017 and did not have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, and
financial statement disclosures.
In March 2016, FASB issued “ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting” which amends Accounting Standard
Codification Topic 718, “Compensation – Stock Compensation”. The standard includes provisions intended to simplify various aspects related to the accounting
and presentation for stock-based payments in the financial statements, including the income tax effects of stock-based payments, minimum withholding
requirements upon award settlement, and the method of calculating forfeitures in the recognition of stock compensation expense.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 in the first quarter of 2017 and has elected to account for forfeitures as they occur to determine the amount of
compensation cost to be recognized. The accounting policy election was adopted applying a modified retrospective approach, and did not have a material impact
on the consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, or financial statement disclosures. Employee taxes paid for withheld shares are presented
as a financing activity in the consolidated statements of cash flows, as required by the new standard, and was adopted retrospectively. Other provisions of ASU
2016-09 related to the accounting for the tax effects of stock-based payments have no impact on its consolidated results of operations, as the Company records a
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets related to excess tax benefits from stock-based payment transactions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
As an “emerging growth company,” the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act allows the Company to delay adoption of new or revised accounting
pronouncements applicable to public companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. As a result, its financial statements may not
be comparable to the financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable
to public companies.
In May 2014, FASB issued “ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” The standard requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue
to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to a customer. This guidance will replace most existing revenue recognition
guidance. In March 2016, the FASB issued “ASU 2016-08, Principal vs Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)” which clarifies the
implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. In April 2016, the FASB issued “ASU 2016-10, Identifying Performance Obligations and
Licensing” which clarifies the implementation guidance on identifying performance obligations and the licensing implementation guidance. In May 2016, the
FASB issued “ASU 2016-12, Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical
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Expedients” which provides practical expedients for contract modifications and clarification on assessing the collectability criterion, presentation of sales taxes,
measurement date for noncash consideration and completed contracts at transition.
The Company is continuing to evaluate the impact of the standard and its related amendments on all of its revenues and expects to complete its evaluation
during the second half of 2017. The Company will adopt the new guidance effective January 1, 2018 and intends to use the modified retrospective method of
adoption. Under this approach, the Company will recognize the cumulative effect, if any, of changes in revenue recognition related to prior periods as an
adjustment to its opening accumulated deficit balance. Due to the complexity of certain collaboration agreements, the actual revenue recognition treatment required
under the new standard for these arrangements may be dependent on contract-specific terms and vary in some instances. The new standard also requires more
extensive disclosures related to revenue recognition, particularly in quarterly financial statements. The Company is continuing to evaluate the impact of the
standard on all of its revenues, including those mentioned above, and its assessments may change in the future based on its ongoing evaluation.
In January 2016, FASB issued “ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments: Overall.” The standard addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. The standard will become effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2018. The Company is currently
assessing the impact adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, and financial statement
disclosures.
In February 2016, FASB issued “ASU 2016-02, Leases – Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” The standard
requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases. Leases will be classified as either finance or
operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition. The standard requires lessors to classify leases as either sales-type, finance or operating.
A sales-type lease occurs if the lessor transfers all of the risks and rewards, as well as control of the underlying asset, to the lessee. If risks and rewards are
conveyed without the transfer of control, the lease is treated as a financing lease. If the lessor does not convey risks and rewards or control, an
operating lease results. The standard will become effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2019. The Company is currently assessing the impact adoption
of this standard will have on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, and financial statement disclosures.
In June 2016, FASB issued “ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments: Credit Losses”. The standard provides information about expected credit losses on
financial instruments at each reporting date, and to change how other than temporary impairments on investments securities are recorded. The standard will
become effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2020 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact adoption of this
standard will have on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, and financial statement disclosures.
In August 2016, FASB issued “ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments”. The standard
provides guidance on how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows and is intended to reduce diversity in
practice with respect to these items. The standard is applied using a retrospective transition method and will become effective for the Company beginning January
1, 2018. The Company does not anticipate adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash
flows, and financial statement disclosures.
In November 2016, FASB issued “ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash”. The standard requires companies to include amounts
generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents, along with cash and cash equivalents, when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-ofperiod amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The standard will become effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2018, with early adoption
permitted. The Company does not anticipate adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations, financial condition, cash
flows, and financial statement disclosures.
3. Net Loss Per Share
Net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Outstanding stock
options, restricted stock units and warrants have not been included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because to do so would be anti-dilutive.
Accordingly, the numerator and the denominator used in computing both basic and diluted net loss per share for each period are the same.
The following shares underlying outstanding options, restricted stock units and warrants were excluded from the computation of basic and diluted net loss
per share for the periods presented because their effect would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands):
-8-
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Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Options to purchase common stock

2016

5,157

4,531

Restricted stock units

238

83

Common stock warrants

332

572

4. Concentration of Risks
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments and accounts receivable. Cash is invested in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, which includes guidelines intended to minimize and
diversify credit risk. Most of the Company’s investments are not federally insured. The Company has credit risk related to the collectability of its accounts
receivable. The Company performs initial and ongoing evaluations of its customers’ credit history or financial position and generally extends credit on account
without collateral. The Company has not experienced any significant credit losses to date.
The Company had one customer/collaborator, Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp., a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. (“Merck”) that individually represented
14% and 15% of total revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company had no customers or collaborators that
represented more than 10% of total accounts receivable as of March 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016 .
The Company is also subject to supply chain risks related to the outsourcing of the manufacturing and production of its instruments to sole suppliers.
Although there are a limited number of manufacturers for instruments of this type, the Company believes that other suppliers could provide similar products on
comparable terms. Similarly, the Company sources certain raw materials used in the manufacture of consumables from certain sole suppliers. A change in suppliers
could cause a delay in manufacturing and a possible loss of sales, which would adversely affect operating results.
5. Short-term Investments
Short-term investments consisted of available-for-sale securities as follows (in thousands):

Type of securities as of March 31, 2017

Corporate debt securities

$

U.S. government-related debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities

$

$

51,771

$

36,198

5

$

5

53,510

$

$

$

(24)
$

(52)

4

$

5

$

51,724

Fair value

(42)

$

(20)
$

37,241
14,483

Gross
unrealized
losses

1
$

Fair value

(28)

Gross
unrealized
gains

17,312
$

Gross
unrealized
losses

—

Amortized
cost

U.S. government-related debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities

37,264
14,507

Type of securities as of December 31, 2016

Corporate debt securities

Gross
unrealized
gains

Amortized
cost

(62)

36,160
17,293

$

53,453

The fair values of available-for-sale securities by contractual maturity were as follows (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Maturing in one year or less

$

Maturing in one to three years

44,701

December 31, 2016

$

7,023

Total available-for-sale securities

$

51,724

46,310
7,143

$

53,453

The Company has both the intent and ability to sell its available-for-sale investments maturing greater than one year within 12 months from the balance
sheet date and, accordingly, has classified these securities as current in the consolidated balance sheet.
The following table summarizes investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of March 31, 2017 (in thousands).
-9-
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12 Months or
Greater

Less Than 12 Months
Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

Corporate debt securities

$

U.S. government-related debt securities
Total

21,244

$

14,483
$

35,727

$

—

(24)
$

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

(28)
(52)

Total

$

—

—
$

—

$

—
$

Gross
unrealized
losses

Fair
value

—

21,244

$

(28)

14,483
$

(24)

35,727

$

(52)

The Company invests in securities that are rated investment grade or better. The unrealized losses on investments as of March 31, 2017 and December 31,
2016 were primarily caused by interest rate increases.
The Company reviews the individual securities in its portfolio to determine whether a decline in a security’s fair value below the amortized cost basis is
other-than-temporary. The Company determined that as of March 31, 2017 , there were no investments in its portfolio that were other-than-temporarily impaired.
6. Fair Value Measurements
The Company establishes the fair value of its assets and liabilities using the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a financial
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A fair value hierarchy is used to measure fair value. The three levels of the
fair value hierarchy are as follows:
• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
• Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.
• Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.
The recorded amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, approximate fair value due to their relatively short-term maturities. The recorded amount of the Company’s long-term debt approximates fair value
because the related interest rates approximate rates currently available to the Company.
The Company’s available-for-sale securities by level within the fair value hierarchy were as follows (in thousands):
As of March 31, 2017

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund

$

3,705

$

—

$

—

$

3,705

Short-term investments:
Corporate debt securities

—

37,241

—

37,241

U.S. government-related debt securities

—

14,483

—

14,483

Total

$

As of December 31, 2016

3,705

$

Level 1

51,724

$

Level 2

—

$

Level 3

55,429
Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund

$

16,715

$

—

$

—

$

16,715

Short-term investments:
Corporate debt securities

—

36,160

—

36,160

U.S. government-related debt securities

—

17,293

—

17,293

Total

$

16,715

- 10 -

$

53,453

$

—

$

70,168
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7. Inventory
Inventory consisted of the following as of the date indicated (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Raw materials

$

3,948

December 31, 2016

$

4,277

Work in process

3,858

4,046

Finished goods

6,738

5,489

Total inventory

$

14,544

$

13,812

8. Long-term Debt and Lease Financing Obligations
In April 2014, the Company entered into a term loan agreement under which it may borrow up to $45.0 million , including an option to defer payment of a
portion of the interest that would accrue on the borrowing under the term loan agreement. Upon initial closing, the Company borrowed $20.0 million , and in
October 2014, the Company borrowed an additional $10.0 million under the term loan agreement.
In October 2015, the Company amended the term loan agreement to, among other provisions, increase the maximum borrowing capacity to $60.0 million
(excluding deferred interest), reduce the applicable interest rate from 12.5% to 12.0% , extend the interest-only period through March 2021, and extend the final
maturity to March 2022. Under the amended agreement, borrowings accrue interest at 12.0% annually, payable quarterly, of which 3.0% can be deferred during the
first six years of the term at the Company’s option and paid together with the principal at maturity. The Company has elected to exercise the option to defer
payment of interest and has recorded $3.2 million of deferred interest through March 31, 2017 . In December 2015, the Company borrowed an additional $10.0
million under the terms of the amended agreement. In June 2016, the Company borrowed an additional $5.0 million . Total borrowings and deferred interest under
the amended term loan agreement were $48.2 million and $47.8 million as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , respectively.
Under the amended term loan agreement, the Company may pay interest-only for the first seven years of the term and principal payments are due in four
equal installments during the eighth year of the term. The Company has the option to prepay the term loan, in whole or part, at any time subject to payment of a
redemption fee of up to 4% , which declines 1% annually, with no redemption fee payable if prepayment occurs after the fourth year of the loan. In addition, a
facility fee equal to 2.0% of the amount borrowed plus any accrued interest is payable at the end of the term or when the loan is repaid in full. A long-term liability
of $1.1 million for the facility fee is being accreted using the effective interest method over the term of the loan agreement. Obligations under the term loan
agreement are collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets.
The term loan agreement contains customary conditions to borrowings, events of default and negative covenants, including covenants that could limit the
Company’s ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, liens or other encumbrances, make dividends or other distributions; buy, sell or transfer
assets; engage in any new line of business; and enter into certain transactions with affiliates. The term loan agreement also includes a $2.0 million minimum
liquidity covenant and revenue-based financial requirements, specifically $85.0 million for 2017 with annual increases of $15.0 million for each subsequent fiscal
year thereafter. If the Company’s actual revenue is below the minimum annual revenue requirement for any given year, it may avoid a related default by generating
proceeds from an equity or subordinated debt issuance equal to the shortfall between its actual revenue and the minimum revenue requirement. The Company was
in compliance with its financial covenants as of March 31, 2017 .
Long-term debt and lease financing obligations, consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Term loans payable

$

Lease financing obligations
Total long-term debt and lease financing obligations
Unamortized debt issuance costs

48,202

December 31, 2016

$

58

48,228

47,902

(454)

Current portion of lease financing obligations

(478)

(26)

Long-term debt and lease financing obligations, net of debt issuance costs and current portion
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$

47,844

26

47,748

(58)
$

47,366
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Scheduled future principal payments for outstanding debt and lease financing obligations were as follows at March 31, 2017 (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

Remainder of 2017

$

26

2018

—

2019

—

2020

—

2021

36,152

Thereafter

12,050
$

48,228

9. Collaboration Agreements
The Company uses a proportional performance model to recognize collaboration revenue over the Company’s performance period for each collaboration
agreement. Costs incurred to date compared to total expected costs are used to determine proportional performance, as this is considered to be representative of the
delivery of outputs under the arrangement. Revenue recognized at any point in time is limited to cash received and amounts contractually due. Changes in
estimates of total expected costs are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. All amounts received or due are classified as collaboration revenue as
they are earned.
Celgene Corporation
In March 2014, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Celgene Corporation (“Celgene”) to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and
commercialize a companion diagnostic assay for use in screening patients with Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. The Company is eligible to receive payments
totaling up to $45.0 million , of which $5.8 million was received as an upfront payment upon delivery of certain information to Celgene, $17.0 million is for
potential success-based development and regulatory milestones, and the remainder is for potential commercial payments in the event sales of the test do not exceed
certain pre-specified minimum annual revenue during the first three years following regulatory approval. There have been several amendments to the collaboration
agreement to expand the scope of development work and in return the Company has received additional payments totaling $2.1 million .
The Company will retain all commercial rights to the diagnostic test developed under this collaboration, subject to certain backup rights granted to
Celgene to commercialize the diagnostic test in a particular country if the Company elects to cease distribution or elects not to distribute the diagnostic in such
country. Assuming success in the clinical trial process, and subject to regulatory approval, the Company will market and sell the diagnostic assay and Celgene has
agreed to make certain potential commercial payments to the Company in the event sales of the assay do not exceed certain pre-specified minimum annual
revenues during the first three years following regulatory approval.
The Company achieved and was paid for milestones totaling $6.0 million during 2014. The process of successfully developing a product candidate,
obtaining regulatory approval and ultimately commercializing a product candidate is highly uncertain and the attainment of any additional milestones is therefore
uncertain and difficult to predict. In addition, certain milestones are outside the Company’s control and are dependent on the performance of Celgene and the
outcome of a clinical trial and related regulatory processes. Accordingly, the Company is not able to reasonably estimate when, if at all, any additional milestone
payments may be payable to the Company by Celgene.
The Company recognized collaboration revenue related to the Celgene agreement of $0.1 million and $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31,
2017 and 2016 , respectively. At March 31, 2017 , the Company had recorded $5.4 million of deferred revenue related to the Celgene collaboration, of which $1.7
million is estimated to be recognizable as revenue within one year.
Merck & Co., Inc.
In May 2015, the Company entered into a clinical research collaboration agreement with Merck, to develop an assay intended to optimize immune-related
gene expression signatures and evaluate the potential to predict benefit from Merck’s anti-PD-1therapy, KEYTRUDA. Under the terms of the collaboration
agreement, the Company received $3.9 million in payments during 2015.
In February 2016, the Company expanded its collaboration with Merck by entering into a new development collaboration agreement to clinically develop
and commercialize a novel diagnostic test, based on an optimized gene expression signature, to predict response to KEYTRUDA in multiple tumor types. In
connection with the execution of the development
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collaboration agreement, the Company and Merck terminated the May 2015 clinical research collaboration and moved all remaining activities under the related
work plan to the new development collaboration agreement. Under the terms of the new collaboration agreement, the Company is responsible for developing and
validating the diagnostic test and, if the parties thereafter determine to proceed, will also be responsible for seeking regulatory approval for and commercializing
the related test products. During 2016, the Company received $12.0 million upfront as a technology access fee and is eligible to receive up to an additional $12.0
million of near-term preclinical milestone payments, of which $8.5 million was achieved and received during 2016, and other potential downstream regulatory
milestone payments. In addition, the Company is eligible to receive funding for certain development costs.
The Company recognized collaboration revenue of $2.1 million and $1.3 million related to the Merck agreement for the three months ended March 31,
2017 and 2016 , respectively. As of March 31, 2017 , the Company had recorded $20.9 million of deferred revenue related to the Merck collaboration, $11.7
million of which is estimated to be recognized as revenue within one year. The Company received development funding of $1.8 million and $1.9 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.
Medivation, Inc. and Astellas Pharma, Inc.
In January 2016, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Medivation, Inc. ("Medivation") and Astellas Pharma Inc. (“Astellas”) to
pursue the translation of a novel gene expression signature algorithm discovered by Medivation into a companion diagnostic assay using the nCounter Analysis
System. Under the terms of the collaboration agreement, the Company will modify its PAM50-based Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay for potential use as a
companion diagnostic test for XTANDI (enzalutamide) for triple negative breast cancer. XTANDI is currently approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
for the treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer.
The modified Prosigna test will be based upon data from a Phase 2 trial conducted by Medivation and Astellas that evaluated enzalutamide in patients
with triple negative breast cancer. Under the terms of the collaboration agreement, the Company will be responsible for developing and validating the diagnostic
test and, if the parties thereafter determine to proceed, will also be responsible for seeking regulatory approval for and commercializing the test. During 2016 , the
Company received $6.0 million upfront for technology access, $6.0 million in pre-clinical milestones, and is eligible to receive up to $10.0 million in development
funding over the term of the agreement, in addition to other potential downstream milestone payments.
During the three months ended March 31, 2017 , the Company increased its estimated future costs related to the Medivation/Astellas agreement, resulting
in a $0.2 million reduction of cumulative revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 . The Company recognized collaboration revenue of $0.6 million
related to the Medivation/Astellas agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2016 . As of March 31, 2017 , the Company had recorded $10.6 million of
deferred revenue related to the Medivation/Astellas collaboration, $4.0 million of which is estimated to be recognized as revenue within one year. The Company
received development funding of $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and none for the three months ended March 31, 2016 .
10. Commitments and Contingencies
From time to time, the Company may become involved in litigation relating to claims arising from the ordinary course of business. Management believes
that there are no claims or actions pending against the Company currently, the ultimate disposition of which would have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated results of operation, financial condition or cash flows.
11. Information about Geographic Areas
The Company operates as a single reportable segment and enables customers to perform both research and clinical testing on its nCounter Analysis
Systems. The Company has one sales force that sells these systems to both research and clinical testing labs, and its nCounter Elements reagents can be used for
both research and diagnostic testing. In addition, the Company’s Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay is marketed to clinical laboratories. The Company has also entered
into collaboration agreements with Celgene, Merck and Medivation and Astellas.
The following table of total revenue is based on the geographic location of the Company’s customers, distributors and collaborators. For sales to
distributors, their geographic location may be different from the geographic locations of the ultimate end user. Americas consists of the United States, Canada,
Mexico and South America; and Asia Pacific includes Japan, China,
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South Korea, Singapore, Malaysia and Australia. Revenue by geography was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Americas

$

2016

12,211

$

10,083

Europe & Middle East

4,415

2,853

Asia Pacific

1,437

1,761

Total revenue

$

18,063

$

14,697

Total revenue in the United States was $11.8 million and $9.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively. The
Company’s assets are primarily located in the United States and not allocated to any specific geographic region. Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived
assets are located in the United States.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management's beliefs and assumptions and on
information currently available. This section should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in Part I, Item 1 of this report. The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not purely historical are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “may,” "seek" and other similar
expressions. You should read these statements carefully because they discuss future expectations, contain projections of future results of operations or financial
condition, or state other “forward-looking” information. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations, intentions and financial performance
and the assumptions that underlie these statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our expectations regarding our future operating results and capital needs, including our expectations regarding instrument, consumable and total
revenue, operating expenses and operating and net loss;
the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business and future product development plans;
the regulatory regime and our ability to secure regulatory clearance or approval or reimbursement for the clinical use of our products,
domestically and internationally;
our ability to successfully commercialize Prosigna, our first in vitro diagnostic product;
our ability to realize the potential payments set forth in our collaboration agreements;
our strategic relationships, including with patent holders of our technologies, manufacturers and distributors of our products, collaboration
partners and third parties who conduct our clinical studies;
our intellectual property position;
our expectations regarding the market size and growth potential for our business; and
our ability to sustain and manage growth, including our ability to expand our customer base, develop new products, enter new markets and hire
and retain key personnel.

These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in
the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this report in Part II, Item 1A — “Risk
Factors,” and elsewhere in this report. These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of their date, and we undertake no obligation to update or
revise these statements in light of future developments. In this report, “we,” “our,” “us,” “NanoString,” and “the Company” refer to NanoString Technologies, Inc.
and its subsidiaries.
Overview
We develop, manufacture and sell robust, intuitive products that unlock scientifically valuable and clinically actionable biologic information from minute
amounts of tissue. Our nCounter Analysis System directly profiles hundreds of molecules simultaneously using a novel barcoding technology that is powerful
enough for use in research, yet simple enough for use in clinical laboratories worldwide. We market systems and related consumables to researchers in academic,
government, and biopharmaceutical laboratories for use in understanding fundamental biology and the molecular basis of disease and to clinical laboratories and
medical centers for diagnostic use. As of March 31, 2017 , we have an installed base of approximately 510 systems, which our customers have used to publish over
1,550 peer-reviewed papers. As researchers using our systems discover new biologic insights to improve clinical decision-making, these discoveries can be
translated and validated as diagnostic tests, either using our nCounter Elements reagents or, in certain situations, by developing in vitro diagnostic assays. For
example, our first molecular diagnostic product is the Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay, or Prosigna, which provides an assessment of a patient’s risk of recurrence for
breast cancer. In addition, we are collaborating with several biopharmaceutical companies to develop companion diagnostics, in vitro diagnostic tests to be used to
identify which patients are most likely to respond to a particular drug therapy.
We derive a substantial majority of our revenue from the sale of our products to life science researchers, which consist of our nCounter instruments and
related proprietary consumables, which we call CodeSets, nCounter Elements reagents and Master Kits. After buying an nCounter Analysis System, research
customers purchase consumables from us for use in their experiments. Our instruments are designed to work only with our consumable products. Accordingly, as
the installed base of our instruments grows, we expect recurring revenue from consumable sales to become an increasingly important driver of our
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operating results. We also derive revenue from processing fees related to proof-of-principle studies we conduct for potential customers and extended service
contracts for our nCounter Analysis Systems. Additionally, we generate revenue through development collaborations.
We use third-party contract manufacturers to produce the instruments comprising our nCounter Analysis Systems. We manufacture consumables at our
Seattle, Washington facility. This operating model is designed to be capital efficient and to scale efficiently as our product volumes grow. We focus a substantial
portion of our resources on developing new technologies, products and solutions. We sell our products through our own sales force in the United States, Canada,
Singapore, Israel and certain European countries. We sell through distributors in other parts of the world.
We have three collaborations in place with biopharmaceutical companies for the development and commercialization of companion diagnostic assays to
be used to identify patients most likely to respond to a particular drug therapy. The agreements are structured generally to provide us with a combination of upfront
technology access fees, potential milestone payments, development funding and, in one instance, payments to support commercialization. The collaboration
agreements generally provide near-term cash that is deferred and recognized in future periods based on the proportion of work completed.
Our total revenue has increased to $18.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from $14.7 million for the first three months of 2016 .
Historically, we have generated a substantial majority of our revenue from sales to customers in North America; however, we expect sales in other regions to
increase over time. We have never been profitable and had net losses of $18.9 million and $14.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 ,
respectively, and as of March 31, 2017 our accumulated deficit was $288.4 million .
Results of Operations
Revenue
Our product revenue consists of sales of our nCounter Analysis Systems and related consumables, including Prosigna in vitro diagnostic kits. Service
revenue consists of fees associated with extended service agreements, and sample processing. Our customer base is primarily composed of academic institutions,
government laboratories, biopharmaceutical companies and clinical laboratories that perform analyses or testing using our nCounter Analysis Systems and
purchase related consumables. Collaboration revenue is derived primarily from our collaborations with Celgene, Merck and Medivation and Astellas.
The following table reflects total revenue by geography based on the geographic location of our customers, distributors and collaborators. For sales to
distributors, their geographic location may be different from the geographic locations of the ultimate end user. Americas consists of the United States, Canada,
Mexico and South America; and Asia Pacific includes Japan, China, South Korea, Singapore, Malaysia, and Australia.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

%
Change

(In thousands)

Americas

$

12,211

$

10,083

21 %

Europe & Middle East

4,415

2,853

55 %

Asia Pacific

1,437

1,761

(18)%

14,697

23 %

Total revenue

$
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The following table reflects the breakdown of revenue.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

%
Change

2016

(In thousands)

Product revenue:
Instruments

$

4,470

$

3,402

31 %

Consumables

8,592

7,208

19 %

In vitro diagnostic kits

1,439

754

91 %

Total product revenue

14,501

11,364

28 %

1,264

772

64 %

15,765

12,136

30 %

2,298

2,561

(10)%

14,697

23 %

Service revenue
Total product and service revenue
Collaboration revenue
Total revenue

$

18,063

$

The growth in instrument revenue was driven by an increase in the number of instruments sold for the three months ended March 31, 2017 as compared to
the same period in 2016 . Approximately half of the systems sold during the three months ended March 31, 2017 were SPRINT Profilers, consistent with our
expectations. The increase in consumables revenue for the three month period was driven by growth in our installed base of instruments. Revenue from in vitro
diagnostic kits increased for the three month period as sales of Prosigna kits continued to grow as more laboratories have adopted the test and coverage by thirdparty payers has increased since we launched the product in late 2013. The increase in service revenue for the three month period was primarily related to an
increase in the number of instruments covered by service agreements and the initiation of sample processing under our new Digital Spatial Profiling technology
access program.
Cost of Product and Service Revenue; Gross Profit; and Gross Margin
Cost of product and service revenue consists primarily of costs incurred in the production process, including costs of purchasing instruments from thirdparty contract manufacturers, consumable component materials and assembly labor and overhead, installation, warranty, service and packaging and delivery costs.
In addition, cost of product and service revenue includes royalty costs for licensed technologies included in our products, provisions for slow-moving and obsolete
inventory and stock-based compensation expense. We provide a one-year warranty on each nCounter Analysis System sold and establish a reserve for warranty
repairs based on historical warranty repair costs incurred.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

%
Change

2016

(Dollars in thousands)

Cost of product and service revenue

$

7,163

$

5,870

22%

Product and service gross profit

$

8,602

$

6,266

37%

Product and service gross margin

55%

52%

The increase in cost of product and service revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was related to the overall increased volume of products
and services sold. The increase in gross margin on product and service revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was primarily due to the addition of
new high margin service revenues from our Digital Spatial Profiling technology access program; reductions in inventory-related period costs; and a lower royalty
rate on our license of the foundational nCounter patents due to the achievement of a cumulative revenue milestone that took effect in the third quarter of 2016.
Costs related to collaboration revenue are included in research and development expense.
Research and Development Expense
Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits, occupancy, laboratory supplies, engineering services, consulting fees, costs
associated with licensing molecular diagnostics rights and clinical study expenses (including the cost of nCounter systems used in collaborations) to support the
regulatory approval or clearance of diagnostic products. We have made substantial investments in research and development since our inception. Our research and
development efforts have focused primarily on the tasks required to enhance our technologies and to support development and commercialization of new and
existing products and applications. We believe that our continued investment in research and
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development is essential to our long-term competitive position and expect these expenses to continue to increase in future periods.
Given the relatively small size of our research and development staff and the limited number of active projects at any given time, we have found that, to
date, it has been effective for us to manage our research and development activities on a departmental basis. Accordingly, other than for collaborations and certain
major technology development programs, we do not require employees to report their time by project, nor do we allocate our research and development costs to
individual projects, other than for collaborations. Research and development expense by functional area was as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

%
Change

(In thousands)

Core nCounter platform technology

$

1,868

82%

728

597

22%

Life sciences products and applications

1,702

1,525

12%

Diagnostic product development

2,000

1,223

64%

Clinical, regulatory and medical affairs

1,692

1,110

52%

Facility allocation

1,283

885

45%

7,208

50%

Manufacturing process development

Total research and development expense

$

3,396

10,801

$

$

The increase in research and development expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to a $1.8 million increase in
staffing and personnel-related costs, increased supply costs of $0.8 million and professional fees of $0.3 million to support the advancement of our biopharma
diagnostic collaborations and technology and product development activities, including 3D Biology, Digital Spatial Profiling and Hyb & Seq sequencing
chemistry. In addition, facility costs increased $0.4 million due to expansion of our leased space for research and development activities.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense
Selling, general and administrative expense consists primarily of costs for our sales and marketing, finance, human resources, information technology,
business development, legal and general management functions, as well as professional services, such as legal, consulting and accounting services. We expect
selling, general and administrative expense to increase in future periods as the number of sales, technical support and marketing and administrative personnel
grows as we continue to introduce new products, broaden our customer base and grow our business. We intend to add staff focused on sales of consumables to our
existing instrument base. We believe this investment will enable our existing sales representatives to focus on instrument sales and help drive the growth of our
installed instrument base. Legal, accounting and compliance costs have also increased as a result of our being a public company, and we expect them to continue to
increase as our business grows.
Selling, general and administrative expense was as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

2016

%
Change

(In thousands)

Selling, general and administrative expense

$

17,565

$

14,904

18%

The increase in selling, general and administration expense for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was primarily attributable to a $2.2 million
increase in staffing and personnel-related costs to support sales and marketing and administration, and increased sales and marketing costs of $0.7 million related
to promotional events and other external activities.
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Other Income (Expense)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

%
Change

2016

(In thousands)

Interest income

$

Interest expense

147

$

(1,501)

Other income (expense), net

13

Total other income (expense), net

$

(1,341)

$

68

116 %

(1,315)

14 %

(71)

(118)%

(1,318)

2%

For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , interest expense increased primarily due to an increase in outstanding long-term debt borrowings. The
average balance of long-term debt outstanding was $48.1 million and $41.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of March 31, 2017 , we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaling $57.1 million . We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents
and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months. However, we may need to
raise additional capital to expand the commercialization of our products, fund our operations and further our research and development activities. Our future
funding requirements will depend on many factors, including: the nature and timing of any additional companion diagnostic development collaborations we may
establish; market acceptance of our products; the cost and timing of establishing additional sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; the cost of our research
and development activities; the cost and timing of regulatory clearances or approvals; the effect of competing technological and market developments; the nature
and timing of any additional companion diagnostic development collaborations we may establish; and the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses,
products and technologies, although we currently have no commitments or agreements relating to any of these types of transactions.
If we require additional funds in the future, we may not be able to obtain such funds on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing
equity or equity-linked securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Debt financing, if available, may involve covenants restricting our operations or our
ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or additional equity financing that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. If we raise
additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our
products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unable to raise adequate funds, we may have to liquidate some or all of our assets, or
delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate some or all of our development programs. If we do not have, or are not able to obtain, sufficient funds, we may have to
delay development or commercialization of our products or license to third parties the rights to commercialize products or technologies that we would otherwise
seek to commercialize. We also may have to reduce marketing, customer support or other resources devoted to our products or cease operations.
Sources and Uses of Funds
Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities and, to a lesser extent, from borrowings. For the three
months ended March 31, 2017 , we received $2.8 million in cash receipts from our collaboration agreements. However, the timing and amount of such receipts in
the future are uncertain and therefore we may require larger amounts of cash to fund our operations over at least the next several years.

I n May 2015, we entered into a sales agreement with a sales agent to sell shares of our common stock through an “at the market” equity offering
program, pursuant to which we sold 1,062,330 and 960,400 shares during 2016 and 2015, respectively, for net proceeds of $26.1 million and $12.5 million ,
respectively. The sales agreement automatically terminated when we sold the maximum number of shares allowed under the agreement.
In April 2014, we entered into a term loan agreement under which up to $45.0 million could be borrowed, including an option to defer payment of a
portion of the interest that would accrue on the borrowing under the term loan agreement. Upon initial closing, we borrowed $20.0 million and in October 2014, we
borrowed an additional $10.0 million under the term loan agreement.
In October 2015, we amended our term loan agreement to, among other provisions, increase the maximum borrowing capacity to $60.0 million (excluding
accrued interest), reduce the applicable interest rate from 12.5% to 12.0%, extend the
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interest-only period through March 2021, and extend the final maturity to March 2022. Under the amended agreement, borrowings accrue interest at 12.0%
annually, payable quarterly, of which 3.0% can be deferred during the first six years of the term at our option and paid together with the principal at maturity. We
have elected to exercise the option to defer a portion of the interest and we have recorded $3.2 million of deferred interest through March 31, 2017 . In December
2015, we borrowed an additional $10.0 million under the terms of the amended agreement and in June 2016, we borrowed an additional $5.0 million. Total
borrowings under the amended term loan agreement were $48.2 million as of March 31, 2017 .
Under the amended term loan agreement, we may pay interest-only for the first seven years of the term and principal payments are due in four equal
installments during the eighth year of the term. We have the option to prepay the term loan, in whole or part, at any time subject to payment of a redemption fee of
up to 4%, which declines 1% annually, with no redemption fee payable if prepayment occurs after the fourth year of the loan. In addition, a facility fee equal to
2.0% of the amount borrowed plus any deferred interest is payable at the end of the term or when the loan is repaid in full. A long-term liability of $1.1 million for
the facility fee is being accreted using the effective interest method for the facility fee over the term of the loan agreement. Obligations under the term loan
agreement are collateralized by substantially all of our assets.
The term loan agreement contains customary conditions to borrowings, events of default and negative covenants, including covenants that could limit our
ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, liens or other encumbrances, make dividends or other distributions; buy, sell or transfer assets; engage
in any new line of business; and enter into certain transactions with affiliates. The term loan agreement also includes a $2.0 million minimum liquidity covenant
and revenue-based financial covenants, which is $85.0 million for 2017 with annual increases of $15 million for each subsequent fiscal year thereafter. If our actual
revenue is below the minimum annual revenue requirement for any given year, we may avoid a related default by generating proceeds from an equity or
subordinated debt issuance equal to the shortfall between our actual revenue and the minimum revenue requirement. We were in compliance with our covenants as
of March 31, 2017 .
Our principal uses of cash are funding our operations, capital expenditures, satisfaction of our obligations under our debt instruments, and other working
capital requirements. Over the past several years, our revenue has increased significantly from year to year and, as a result, our cash flows from customer
collections have increased. However, our operating expenses have also increased as we have invested in growing our existing research business, developing and
commercializing Prosigna, supporting our companion diagnostic collaborations with Celgene, Merck, and Medivation and Astellas, and investing in technologies
that we believe have the potential to drive the long-term growth of our business.
Our operating cash requirements may increase in the future as we (1) increase sales and marketing activities to expand the installed base of our nCounter
Analysis Systems among research customers and clinical laboratories and continue to promote consumable usage, including Prosigna, (2) commercialize, and
conduct studies to expand the clinical utility of Prosigna and develop new diagnostic tests under our three biopharma collaborations, and (3) develop new
applications, chemistry and instruments for our nCounter platform, as we cannot be certain our revenue will grow sufficiently to offset our operating expense
increases, nor can we be certain that we will be successful in continuing to generate cash from new collaborations to help fund our operations.
We may need to raise additional funds to support our operations, and such funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are
unable to raise additional funds when needed, our operations and ability to execute our business strategy could be adversely affected. We may seek to raise
additional funds through equity, equity-linked or debt financings. If we raise additional funds through the incurrence of indebtedness, such indebtedness would
have rights that are senior to holders of our equity securities and could contain covenants that restrict our operations. Any additional equity financing may be
dilutive to our stockholders.
Historical Cash Flow Trends
The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$

Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by financing activities

2016

(15,266)

$

7,581

(843)

(828)

934

968

Operating Cash Flows
We derive operating cash flows from cash collected from the sale of our products and services and from collaborations. These cash flows received are
outweighed by our use of cash for operating expenses to support the growth of
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our business. As a result, we have historically experienced negative cash flows from operating activities and this will likely continue for the foreseeable future.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 , net cash used in operating activities consisted of our net loss of $18.9 million , which was offset by $3.6
million of net non-cash items, such as stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, deferred interest converted to principal for the term loan, and
amortization of premium on short-term investments.
For the three months ended March 31, 2016, we had net cash provided by operating activities due to $19.9 million in payments received from our
collaborators, Merck and Medivation and Astellas. Net cash provided by operating activities consisted of our net loss of $14.6 million, which was more than offset
by $19.1 million of changes in our operating assets and liabilities. The net amount of cash provided by operations was further increased by $3.0 million of net noncash items, such as stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, deferred interest converted to principal for the term loan, and amortization of
premium on short-term investments.
Investing Cash Flows
Our most significant investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 were related to the purchase and sale of short-term
investments. Because we manage our cash usage with respect to our total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, we do not consider these cash flows to
be important to an understanding of our liquidity and capital resources.
In the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , we purchased $2.5 million and $0.8 million , respectively, of property and equipment required to
support the growth and expansion of our operations.
Financing Cash Flows
Historically, we have funded our operations through the issuance of equity securities and debt borrowings.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 consisted of Employee Stock Purchase Plan proceeds of $0.9 million
and $0.3 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options. These proceeds were partially offset by tax payments of $0.2 million related to net share
settlements of restricted stock units.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2016 consisted of Employee Stock Purchase Plan proceeds of $0.8 million
and $0.3 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options. These proceeds were partially offset by the repayment of lease financing obligations of $0.1
million .
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses at the date of the
financial statements. Generally, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with GAAP that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Critical accounting policies and significant estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results
of operations because they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters
that are inherently uncertain. Our critical accounting policies and estimates include those related to:
•
•
•
•
•

revenue recognition;
stock-based compensation;
inventory valuation;
fair value measurements; and
income taxes.

There have been no material changes in our critical accounting policies and significant estimates in the preparation of our condensed consolidated
financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2016 , as filed with the SEC on March 9, 2017 .
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For information regarding recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 1 of this
report.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is the potential loss arising
from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Prices for our products are largely denominated in U.S. dollars and, as a result, we do not face significant risk
with respect to foreign currency exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk
Generally, our exposure to market risk has been primarily limited to interest income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S.
interest rates, particularly because the majority of our investments are in short-term debt securities. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve
principal while at the same time maximizing the income we receive without significantly increasing risk. To minimize risk, we maintain our portfolio of cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments in a variety of interest-bearing instruments, which have included U.S. government and agency securities, high-grade U.S.
corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, and money market funds. Declines in interest rates, however, would reduce future investment income. A 1% decline in
interest rates, occurring on April 1, 2017 and sustained throughout the period ended March 31, 2018 , would not be material.
As of March 31, 2017, the principal outstanding under our term borrowings was $48.2 million . The interest rates on our term borrowings under our credit
facility are fixed. If overall interest rates had increased by 10% during the periods presented, our interest expense would not have been materially affected.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
As we continue to expand internationally our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Historically, a majority of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars, although we sell our products and services directly
in certain markets outside of the United States denominated in local currency, principally the Euro. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in
which our operations are located, which is primarily in the United States. The effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates on foreign denominated cash,
receivables and payables would not have been material for the periods presented. As our operations in countries outside of the United States grow, our results of
operations and cash flows will be subject to potentially greater fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could harm our business in
the future. To date, we have not entered into any material foreign currency hedging contracts although we may do so in the future.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special
purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for any other contractually narrow or limited
purpose.
Inflation Risk
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. If our costs were to become subject
to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) prior to the filing of this quarterly report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as
of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, our disclosure controls and procedures were, in design and operation, effective.
(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
March 31, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Inherent limitation on the effectiveness of internal control.
The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. Accordingly,
any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute
assurances. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to monitor and upgrade our internal
controls as necessary or appropriate for our business, but cannot assure you that such improvements will be sufficient to provide us with effective internal control
over financial reporting.
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

We are not engaged in any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in litigation relating to claims arising from the
ordinary course of business. We believe that there are no claims or actions pending against us currently, the ultimate disposition of which would have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated results of operation, financial condition or cash flows.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information contained in this report, including the section of this report
captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes. If any of the
events described in the following risk factors and the risks described elsewhere in this report occurs, our business, operating results and financial condition could
be seriously harmed. This report on Form 10-Q also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that are described below and elsewhere in this report.
Risks Related to our Business and Strategy
We have incurred losses since we were formed and expect to incur losses in the future. We cannot be certain that we will achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred losses since we were formed and expect to incur losses in the future. We incurred net losses of $18.9 million and $14.6 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively. As of March 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $288.4 million . We expect that our losses
will continue for at least the next several years as we will be required to invest significant additional funds toward ongoing development and commercialization of
our technology. We also expect that our operating expenses will continue to increase as we grow our business, but there can be no assurance that our revenue and
gross profit will increase sufficiently such that our net losses decline, or we attain profitability, in the future. Our ability to achieve or sustain profitability is based
on numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the market acceptance of our products, future product development and our market
penetration and margins. We may never be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain profitability.
Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter which may adversely affect our stock price.
Investors should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we expect to encounter in the new, uncertain and rapidly
evolving markets in which we compete. Because these markets are new and evolving, predicting their future growth and size is difficult. We expect that our
visibility into future sales of our products, including volumes, prices and product mix between instruments and consumables, and the amount and timing of
payments pursuant to collaboration agreements will continue to be limited and could result in unexpected fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results.
Numerous other factors, many of which are outside our control, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating
results. These fluctuations may make financial planning and forecasting difficult. For example, in the fourth quarter of 2016, total revenue did not meet
expectations which adversely affected our stock price. In addition, these fluctuations may result in unanticipated changes in our available cash, which could
negatively affect our business and prospects. Factors that may contribute to fluctuations in our operating results include many of the risks described in this section.
In addition, one or more of such factors may cause our revenue or operating expenses in one period to be disproportionately higher or lower relative to the others.
Our instruments involve a significant capital commitment by our
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customers and accordingly involve a lengthy sales cycle. We may expend significant effort in attempting to make a particular sale, which may be deferred by the
customer or never occur. Accordingly, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and investors should not rely on our
past results as an indication of our future performance. If such fluctuations occur or if our operating results deviate from our expectations or the expectations of
securities analysts, our stock price may be adversely affected.
If we do not achieve, sustain or successfully manage our anticipated growth, our business and growth prospects will be harmed.
We have experienced significant revenue growth in a short period of time. We may not achieve similar growth rates in future periods. Investors should
not rely on our operating results for any prior periods as an indication of our future operating performance. If we are unable to maintain adequate revenue growth,
our financial results could suffer and our stock price could decline. Furthermore, growth will place significant strains on our management and our operational and
financial systems and processes. For example, development and commercialization of the Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay, or Prosigna, and other future diagnostic
products worldwide are key elements of our growth strategy and have required us to hire and retain additional sales and marketing, medical, regulatory,
manufacturing and quality assurance personnel. In addition, we intend to make further investments in sales and marketing personnel to enable our commercial
organization to effectively manage the increased scale and complexity of our business. If we do not successfully generate demand for our products or manage our
anticipated expenses accordingly, our operating results will be harmed.
Our future success is dependent upon our ability to expand our customer base and introduce new applications.
Our current customer base is primarily composed of academic and government research laboratories, biopharmaceutical companies and clinical
laboratories that perform analyses using our nCounter Analysis Systems. Our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to increase our market penetration
among all of these customers and to expand our market by developing and marketing new research applications, new instruments, and new diagnostic products. In
light of our analysis of fourth quarter 2016 operating results and in an effort to enhance future results, we intend to add sales staff focused on consumable sales to
existing customers, thus enabling existing sales representatives to increase focus on instrument sales. We expect that increasing the installed base of our nCounter
Analysis Systems will drive demand for our relatively high margin consumable products. If we are not able to successfully increase our installed base of nCounter
Analysis Systems, sales of our consumable products and our margins may not meet expectations. Moreover, we must convince physicians and third-party payors
that our diagnostic products, such as Prosigna, are cost effective in obtaining information that can help inform treatment decisions and that our nCounter Analysis
Systems could enable an equivalent or superior approach that lessens reliance on centralized laboratories. Attracting new customers and introducing new
applications requires substantial time and expense. Any failure to expand our existing customer base, or launch new applications, would adversely affect our ability
to improve our operating results.
Our research business depends on levels of research and development spending by academic and governmental research institutions and biopharmaceutical
companies, a reduction in which could limit demand for our products and adversely affect our business and operating results.
In the near term, we expect that a large portion of our revenue will be derived from sales of our nCounter Analysis Systems to academic and government
research laboratories and biopharmaceutical companies worldwide for research and development applications. The demand for our products will depend in part
upon the research and development budgets of these customers, which are impacted by factors beyond our control, such as:
• changes in government programs (such as the National Institutes of Health) that provide funding to research institutions and companies;
• macroeconomic conditions and the political climate;
• changes in the regulatory environment;
• differences in budgetary cycles;
• competitor product offerings or pricing;
• market-driven pressures to consolidate operations and reduce costs; and
• market acceptance of relatively new technologies, such as ours.
In addition, academic, governmental and other research institutions that fund research and development activities may be subject to stringent budgetary
constraints that could result in spending reductions, reduced allocations or budget cutbacks, which could jeopardize the ability of these customers to purchase our
products. Our operating results may fluctuate substantially due to reductions and delays in research and development expenditures by these customers. Any
decrease in our customers’ budgets or expenditures, or in the size, scope or frequency of capital or operating expenditures, could materially and
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adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
Our sales cycle is lengthy and variable, which makes it difficult for us to forecast revenue and other operating results.
Our sales process involves numerous interactions with multiple individuals within an organization, and often includes in-depth analysis by potential
customers of our products, performance of proof-of-principle studies, preparation of extensive documentation and a lengthy review process. As a result of these
factors, the large capital investment required in purchasing our instruments and the budget cycles of our customers, the time from initial contact with a customer to
our receipt of a purchase order can vary significantly and be up to 12 months or longer. Given the length and uncertainty of our sales cycle, we have in the past
experienced, and likely will in the future experience, fluctuations in our instrument sales on a period-to-period basis. These factors also make it difficult to forecast
revenue on a quarterly basis. For example, in the fourth quarter of 2016, our actual revenues were lower than our forecasts for many reasons that we did not
predict, including reduced funding availability for certain of our potential customers and extended timelines for finalizing purchase decisions by potential
customers. Furthermore, from time-to-time, we may lease instruments or place instruments under reagent rental agreements, wherein a customer does not purchase
an instrument upfront but instead pays a rental fee associated with each purchase of reagents. An increase in instruments placed under these lease or reagent rental
agreements may reduce the number of instruments we would otherwise sell in any period. In addition, any failure to meet customer expectations could result in
customers choosing to continue to use their existing systems or to purchase systems other than ours.
Our reliance on distributors for sales of our products outside of the United States, and on clinical laboratories for delivery of Prosigna testing services, could
limit or prevent us from selling our products and impact our revenue.
We have established exclusive distribution agreements for our nCounter Analysis Systems and related consumable products within parts of Europe, the
Middle East, Africa, Asia Pacific and South America. We intend to continue to grow our business internationally, and to do so we must attract additional
distributors and retain existing distributors to maximize the commercial opportunity for our products. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in attracting
or retaining desirable sales and distribution partners or that we will be able to enter into such arrangements on favorable terms. Distributors may not commit the
necessary resources to market and sell our products to the level of our expectations or may choose to favor marketing the products of our competitors. If current or
future distributors do not perform adequately, or we are unable to enter into effective arrangements with distributors in particular geographic areas, we may not
realize long-term international revenue growth.
Similarly, we or our distributors have entered into agreements with clinical laboratories globally to provide Prosigna testing services. We do not provide
testing services directly and, thus, we are reliant on these clinical laboratories to actively promote and sell Prosigna testing services. These clinical laboratories may
take longer than anticipated to begin offering Prosigna testing services and may not commit the necessary resources to market and sell Prosigna testing services to
the level of our expectations. Furthermore, we intend to contract with additional clinical laboratories to offer Prosigna testing services and we may be unsuccessful
in attracting and contracting with new clinical laboratory providers. If current or future Prosigna testing service providers do not perform adequately, or we are
unable to enter into contracts with additional clinical laboratories to provide Prosigna testing services, we may not be successful selling Prosigna and our future
revenue prospects may be adversely affected.
Our strategy to seek to enter into strategic collaborations and licensing arrangements with third parties to develop diagnostic tests may not be successful.
We have relied, and expect to continue to rely, on strategic collaborations and licensing agreements with third parties for discoveries based on which we
develop diagnostic tests. For example, we licensed the rights to intellectual property that forms the basis of Prosigna from Bioclassifier, LLC, which was founded
by several of our research customers engaged in translational research. Similarly, in connection with our collaboration with Celgene Corporation, we licensed the
rights to intellectual property relating to a gene signature for lymphoma subtyping, which was discovered by a consortium of researchers including several of our
research customers, from the National Institutes of Health. In connection with our collaborations with Merck and Medivation Inc. and Astellas Pharma Inc. to
develop companion diagnostic tests, our partners have licensed the technology for such tests to us. We intend to enter into more such arrangements with our
research customers and other researchers, including biopharmaceutical companies, for development of future diagnostic products. However, there is no assurance
that we will be successful in doing so. In particular, our customers are not obligated to collaborate with us or license technology to us, and they may choose to
develop diagnostic products themselves or collaborate with our competitors. Establishing collaborations and licensing arrangements is difficult and timeconsuming. Discussions may not lead to collaborations or licenses on favorable terms, if at all. To the extent we agree to work exclusively with a party in a given
area, our opportunities to collaborate with others could be limited. Potential collaborators or licensors may elect not to work with us based upon their assessment of
our financial, regulatory or intellectual property position. Furthermore, significant consolidation
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in the life sciences industry has occurred during the last several years and in connection with such consolidation, the combined company often reassesses its
development priorities which may impact our existing collaborations or future opportunities. Even if we establish new relationships, we or our collaborators may
terminate the relationship or they may never result in the successful development or commercialization of future tests.
New diagnostic product development involves a lengthy and complex process, and we may be unable to commercialize on a timely basis, or at all, any of the
tests we develop.
Few research and development projects result in successful commercial products, and success in early clinical studies often is not replicated in later
studies. At any point, we may abandon development of a product candidate or we may be required to expend considerable resources repeating clinical studies,
which would adversely impact potential revenue and our expenses. In addition, any delay in product development would provide others with additional time to
commercialize competing products before we do, which in turn may adversely affect our growth prospects and operating results.
In March 2014, we entered into our first companion diagnostic collaboration with Celgene Corporation to develop an in vitro diagnostic assay to be used
for subtyping certain lymphoma patients. In May 2015, we entered into a clinical research collaboration agreement with Merck to develop an assay that could
become the subject of an additional companion diagnostic collaboration. In February 2016, we expanded our collaboration with Merck by entering into a new
development collaboration agreement to clinically develop and commercialize a novel diagnostic test, based on an optimized gene expression signature, to predict
response to KEYTRUDA in multiple tumor types. In January 2016, we announced a companion diagnostic collaboration with Medivation Inc. and Astellas Pharma
Inc. to modify our Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay for potential use as a companion diagnostic test for enzalutamide for triple negative breast cancer. We intend to
enter into additional similar collaborations over time. The success of the development programs for such assays will be dependent on the success of the related
drug trials conducted by our collaborators. There is no guarantee that those clinical trials will be successful and, as a result, we may expend considerable time and
resources developing in vitro diagnostic assays that cannot gain regulatory approval. Although we expect such collaborations to provide funding to cover our costs
of development, failure of these clinical trials would reduce our prospects for introducing new diagnostic products and would adversely impact our growth
prospects and future operating results.
Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may need to raise additional funds in the future.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with funds available under our term loan agreement, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, we may need to raise substantial additional capital to:
• expand the commercialization of our products;
• fund our operations; and
• further our research and development.
Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including:
• market acceptance of our products;
• the cost and timing of establishing additional sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;
• revenue and cash flow derived from existing or future collaborations;
• the cost of our research and development activities;
• the cost and timing of regulatory clearances or approvals;
• the effect of competing technological and market developments; and
• the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, including new licensing arrangements for new products.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional funds on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or equitylinked securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Additional debt financing, if available, may involve additional covenants restricting our operations or
our ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or additional equity financing that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. If we
raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or our
products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we do not have, or are not able to obtain, sufficient funds, we may have to delay development or
commercialization of our products or license to third parties the rights to commercialize products or technologies that we would otherwise seek to commercialize.
We also may have to reduce marketing, customer support or other resources devoted to our products or cease operations. Any of these factors could harm our
operating results.
- 26 -

Table of Contents

Our research and development efforts will be hindered if we are not able to contract with third parties for access to archival tissue samples.
Under standard clinical practice, tumor biopsies removed from patients are preserved and stored in formalin-fixed paraffin embedded, or FFPE, format.
We rely on our ability to secure access to these archived FFPE tumor biopsy samples, as well as information pertaining to the clinical outcomes of the patients
from which they were derived for our clinical development activities. Others compete with us for access to these samples. Additionally, the process of negotiating
access to archived samples is lengthy because it typically involves numerous parties and approval levels to resolve complex issues such as usage rights,
institutional review board approval, privacy rights, publication rights, intellectual property ownership and research parameters. In January 2017, the Department of
Health and Human Services finalized new rules, which become effective as of January 19, 2018, expanding the language to be included in informed consent forms
related to the collection of identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens. If this new requirement, or other factors arising in the future, impact our
ability to negotiate access to archived tumor tissue samples with hospitals, clinical partners, pharmaceutical companies, or companies developing therapeutics on a
timely basis or on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or if other laboratories or our competitors secure access to these samples before us, our ability to
research, develop and commercialize future products will be limited or delayed.
The life sciences research and diagnostic markets are highly competitive. If we fail to compete effectively, our business and operating results will suffer.
We face significant competition in the life sciences research and diagnostic markets. We currently compete with both established and early stage life
sciences research companies that design, manufacture and market instruments and consumables for gene expression analysis, single-cell analysis, polymerase chain
reaction, or PCR, digital PCR, other nucleic acid detection and additional applications. These companies use well-established laboratory techniques such as
microarrays or quantitative PCR, or qPCR, as well as newer technologies such as next generation sequencing. We believe our principal competitors in the life
sciences research and diagnostic markets are Agilent Technologies, Becton-Dickinson, Bio-Rad, Bio-Techne, Fluidigm, HTG Molecular Diagnostics, Illumina,
Luminex, Merck Millipore, O-Link, Perkin Elmer, Qiagen, Roche Applied Science, Thermo Fisher Scientific, and WaferGen Biosystems. In addition, there are a
number of new market entrants in the process of developing novel technologies for the life sciences market.
We also compete with commercial diagnostic laboratory companies. We believe our principal competitor in the breast cancer diagnostics market is
Genomic Health, which provides gene expression analysis at its central laboratory in Redwood City, California and currently commands a substantial majority of
the market. We also face competition from companies such as Agendia, bioTheranostics, and NeoGenomics, which also offer services by means of centralized
laboratories that profile gene or protein expression in breast cancer. In Europe, we also face regional competition from Myriad Genetics, which recently acquired
Sividon Diagnostics and its product EndoPredict, a distributed test for breast cancer recurrence. Myriad Genetics has announced its intent to begin selling
EndoPredict in the United States after obtaining any necessary regulatory approvals.
Many of our current competitors are large publicly-traded companies, or are divisions of large publicly-traded companies, and may enjoy a number of
competitive advantages over us, including:
• greater name and brand recognition, financial and human resources;
• broader product lines;
• larger sales forces and more established distributor networks;
• substantial intellectual property portfolios;
• larger and more established customer bases and relationships; and
• better established, larger scale, and lower cost manufacturing capabilities.
We believe that the principal competitive factors in all of our target markets include:
• cost of capital equipment;
• cost of consumables and supplies;
• reputation among customers;
• innovation in product offerings;
• flexibility and ease-of-use;
• accuracy and reproducibility of results; and
• compatibility with existing laboratory processes, tools and methods.
We believe that additional competitive factors specific to the diagnostics market include:
• availability of reimbursement for testing services;
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•
•
•
•

breadth of clinical decisions that can be influenced by information generated by tests;
volume, quality, and strength of clinical and analytical validation data;
inclusion in treatment guidelines; and
economic benefit accrued to customers based on testing services enabled by products.

We cannot assure investors that our products will compete favorably or that we will be successful in the face of increasing competition from new products
and technologies introduced by our existing competitors or new companies entering our markets. In addition, we cannot assure investors that our competitors do
not have or will not develop products or technologies that currently or in the future will enable them to produce competitive products with greater capabilities or at
lower costs than ours. Any failure to compete effectively could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
If Prosigna fails to achieve and sustain sufficient market acceptance, we will not generate expected revenue, and our prospects may be harmed.
Commercialization of Prosigna in Europe, the United States and the other jurisdictions in which we intend to pursue regulatory approval or clearance is a
key element of our strategy. Currently, most oncologists seeking sophisticated gene expression analysis for diagnosing and profiling breast cancer in their patients
ship tissue samples to a limited number of centralized laboratories typically located in the United States. We may experience reluctance, or refusal, on the part of
physicians to order, and third-party payors to pay for, Prosigna if the results of our research and clinical studies, and our sales and marketing activities relating to
communication of these results, do not convey to physicians and patients that Prosigna provides equivalent or better prognostic information than those centralized
laboratories. In addition, our diagnostic tests are performed by pathologists in local laboratories, rather than by a vendor in a remote centralized laboratory, which
requires us to educate pathologists regarding the benefits of this business model and oncologists regarding the reliability and consistency of results generated
locally. Also, we intend to offer Prosigna in other countries outside of the United States, where genomic testing for breast cancer is not widely available and the
market for such tests is new. The future growth of the market for genomic breast cancer testing will depend on physicians’ acceptance of such testing and the
availability of reimbursement for such tests.
These hurdles may make it difficult to convince health care providers that tests using our technologies are appropriate options for cancer diagnostics, may
be equivalent or superior to available tests, and may be at least as cost effective as alternative technologies. If we fail to successfully commercialize Prosigna, we
may never receive a return on the significant investments in sales and marketing, medical, regulatory, manufacturing and quality assurance personnel we have
made, and further investments we intend to make, which would adversely affect our growth prospects, operating results and financial condition.
We have limited experience in marketing and selling our diagnostic products to clinical laboratories, and if we are unable to successfully commercialize our
products, our business may be adversely affected.
We have limited experience marketing and selling our diagnostic products to clinical laboratories. Our sales of Prosigna will depend in large part on our
ability to successfully market to oncologists and other healthcare providers. Because we have limited experience in marketing and selling our products in the
diagnostics market, our ability to forecast demand, the infrastructure required to support such demand and the sales cycle to diagnostics customers is unproven. If
we are not able to maintain an efficient and effective sales organization targeting these markets, our business and operating results will be adversely affected. If we
are unable to market and sell our products effectively to clinical laboratories, our ability to sell diagnostic products, including Prosigna, will be adversely affected.
We may not be able to develop new products, enhance the capabilities of our systems to keep pace with rapidly changing technology and customer
requirements or successfully manage the transition to new product offerings, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating
results.
Our success depends on our ability to develop new products and applications for our technology in existing and new markets, while improving the
performance and cost-effectiveness of our systems. New technologies, techniques or products could emerge that might offer better combinations of price and
performance than our current or future products and systems. Existing markets for our products, including gene expression analysis, gene fusions and copy number
variation, as well as new markets, such as protein expression and gene mutations, and potential markets for our research and diagnostic product candidates, are
characterized by rapid technological change and innovation. Competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing
opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements. We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as existing companies and
competitors develop new or improved products and as new companies enter the market with new technologies. It is critical to our success that we anticipate
changes in
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technology and customer requirements and successfully introduce new, enhanced and competitive technologies to meet our customers’ and prospective customers’
needs on a timely and cost-effective basis. If we do not successfully innovate and introduce new technology into our product lines, our business and operating
results will be adversely impacted.
The development of new products typically requires new scientific discoveries or advancements and complex technology and engineering. Such
developments may involve external suppliers and service providers, making the management of development projects complex and subject to risks and
uncertainties regarding timing, timely delivery of required components or services and satisfactory technical performance of such components or assembled
products. For example, in 2016, a portion of the fluidic cartridges used in our nCounter SPRINT systems experienced leakage and we worked with our supplier to
determine the root cause of the leakage and institute corrective actions at the supplier’s production facility. If we do not achieve the required technical
specifications or successfully manage new product development processes, or if development work is not performed according to schedule, then such new
technologies or products may be adversely impacted and our business and operating results may be harmed.
Additionally, we must carefully manage the introduction of new products. If customers believe that such products will offer enhanced features or be sold
for a more attractive price, they may delay purchases until such products are available. In July 2015 we commercially launched a new version of our nCounter
Analysis System, the nCounter SPRINT Profiler, that is smaller and less expensive than the previous version. If customers conclude that such new products offer
better value as compared to our existing products, we may suffer from reduced sales of our existing products and our overall revenue may decline. We may also
have excess or obsolete inventory of older products as we transition to new products and our experience in managing product transitions is limited. If we do not
effectively manage the transitions to new product offerings, our revenue, results of operations and business will be adversely affected.
New market opportunities may not develop as quickly as we expect, limiting our ability to successfully market and sell our products.
The market for our products is new and evolving. Accordingly, we expect the application of our technologies to emerging opportunities will take several
years to develop and mature and we cannot be certain that these market opportunities will develop as we expect. For example, in September 2015, we launched our
first 3D Biology application, a new product that allows users to simultaneously measure gene and protein expression from a single sample. In 2016 and 2017, we
launched additional 3D Biology panels, including our first for the measurement of DNA mutations. The future growth of the market for these new products
depends on many factors beyond our control, including recognition and acceptance of our applications by the scientific community and the growth, prevalence and
costs of competing methods of genomic analysis. Also, in 2015, we commercially launched a new version of our nCounter Analysis system for research, the
nCounter SPRINT Profiler. If the markets for our new products do not develop as we expect, our business may be adversely affected. If we are not able to
successfully market and sell our products or to achieve the revenue or margins we expect, our operating results may be harmed.
We are dependent on single source suppliers for some of the components and materials used in our products, and the loss of any of these suppliers could harm
our business.
We rely on Precision System Science, Co., Ltd of Chiba, Japan, to build our nCounter Prep Station, Korvis LLC of Corvallis, Oregon, to build our
nCounter Digital Analyzer, Paramit Corporation of Morgan Hill, California, to build our new nCounter SPRINT Profiler and IDEX Corporation of Lake Forest,
Illinois to build the fluidics cartridge, a key component of our nCounter SPRINT Profiler. Each of these contract manufacturers are sole suppliers. Since our
contracts with these instrument suppliers do not commit them to carry inventory or make available any particular quantities, they may give other customers’ needs
higher priority than ours, and we may not be able to obtain adequate supplies in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms. We also rely on sole
suppliers for various components we use to manufacture our consumable products. We periodically forecast our needs for such components and enter into standard
purchase orders with them. If we were to lose such suppliers, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identify or enter into agreements with alternative
suppliers on a timely basis on acceptable terms, if at all. If we should encounter delays or difficulties in securing the quality and quantity of materials we require
for our products, our supply chain would be interrupted which would adversely affect sales. If any of these events occur, our business and operating results could
be harmed.
We may experience manufacturing problems or delays that could limit our growth or adversely affect our operating results
Our consumable products are manufactured at our Seattle, Washington facility using complex processes, sophisticated equipment and strict adherence to
specifications and quality systems procedures. Any unforeseen manufacturing problems, such as contamination of our facility, equipment malfunction, quality
issues with components and materials sourced from third-party suppliers or failure to strictly follow procedures or meet specifications, could result in delays or
shortfalls in production or require us to voluntarily recall of our consumable products. Identifying and resolving the cause of any such manufacturing or supplier
issues could require substantial time and resources. If we are unable to keep up with demand for our products by
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successfully manufacturing and shipping our products in a timely manner, our revenue could be impaired, market acceptance for our products could be adversely
affected and our customers might instead purchase our competitors’ products.
In addition, the introduction of new products may require the development of new manufacturing processes and procedures. For example, our new 3D
Biology applications for the simultaneous measurement of gene and protein expression involve a new process for attaching antibodies to our molecular barcodes.
Additionally, we recently launched our first panel for the measurement of DNA mutations. While all of our CodeSets are produced using the same basic processes,
significant variations may be required to meet new product specifications. Developing new processes can be very time consuming, and any unexpected difficulty in
doing so could delay the introduction of a product.
If our Seattle facilities become unavailable or inoperable, we will be unable to continue our research and development, manufacturing our consumables or
processing sales orders, and our business will be harmed.
We manufacture our consumable products in our headquarters facilities in Seattle, Washington. In addition, Seattle is the center for research and
development, order processing, receipt of our instruments manufactured by third-party contract manufacturers and shipping products to customers. Our facilities
and the equipment we use to manufacture our consumable products would be costly, and would require substantial lead time, to repair or replace. Seattle is situated
near active earthquake fault lines. These facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including earthquakes and power
outages, which may render it difficult or impossible for us to produce our products for some period of time. The inability to manufacture consumables or to ship
products to customers for even a short period of time may result in the loss of customers or harm our reputation, and we may be unable to regain those customers in
the future. Although we possess insurance for damage to our property and the disruption of our business, this insurance, and in particular earthquake insurance,
which is limited, may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.
We expect to generate a substantial portion of our revenue internationally and are subject to various risks relating to our international activities, which could
adversely affect our operating results.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 , approximately 33% and 31% , respectively, of our revenue was generated from sales to customers
located outside of North America. We believe that a significant percentage of our future revenue will come from international sources as we expand our overseas
operations and develop opportunities in additional areas. Engaging in international business involves a number of difficulties and risks, including:
• required compliance with existing and changing foreign regulatory requirements and laws;
• required compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and U.K. Bribery Act, data privacy requirements,
labor laws and anti-competition regulations;
• export or import restrictions;
• various reimbursement and insurance regimes;
• laws and business practices favoring local companies;
• longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;
• political and economic instability, such as the anticipated exit of Great Britain from the European Economic Community;
• potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, customs charges, bureaucratic requirements and other trade barriers;
• difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations; and
• difficulties protecting or procuring intellectual property rights.
As we expand internationally, our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Historically, most of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars, although we have sold our products and services in local currency outside
of the United States, principally the Euro. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located, which is primarily in the
United States. As our operations in countries outside of the United States grow, our results of operations and cash flows will increasingly be subject to fluctuations
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could harm our business in the future. For example, if the value of the U.S. dollar increases relative to
foreign currencies, our revenue could be adversely affected as we convert revenue from local currencies to U.S. dollars. Similarly, a strong U.S. dollar relative to
the local currencies of our international customers can potentially reduce demand for our products, which may compound the adverse effect of foreign exchange
translation on our revenue. If we dedicate significant resources to our international operations and are unable to manage these risks effectively, our business,
operating results and prospects will suffer.
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Significant U.K. or European developments stemming from the U.K.’s referendum on membership in the European Union could have a material adverse effect
on us.
In June 2016, the United Kingdom held a referendum and voted in favor of leaving the European Union, and in March 2017, the government of the
United Kingdom formally initiated the withdrawal process. This has created political and economic uncertainty, particularly in the United Kingdom and the
European Union, and this uncertainty may last for years. Our business in the United Kingdom, the European Union, and worldwide could be affected during this
period of uncertainty, and perhaps longer, by the impact of the United Kingdom’s referendum. There are many ways in which our business could be affected, only
some of which we can identify as of the date of this report.
The decision of the United Kingdom to withdraw from the European Union has caused and, along with events that could occur in the future as a
consequence of the United Kingdom’s withdrawal, including the possible breakup of the United Kingdom, may continue to cause significant volatility in global
financial markets, including in global currency and debt markets. This volatility could cause a slowdown in economic activity in the United Kingdom, Europe or
globally, which could adversely affect our operating results and growth prospects. In addition, our business could be negatively affected by new trade agreements
or data transfer agreements between the United Kingdom and other countries, including the United States, and by the possible imposition of trade or other
regulatory and immigration barriers in the United Kingdom. In addition, the Europe-wide market authorization framework for our products (and for the drugs sold
by our collaboration partners in the pharmaceutical industry) may also change. Furthermore, we currently operate in Europe through a subsidiary based in the
United Kingdom, which provides us with certain operational, tax and other benefits, as well as through other subsidiaries in Europe. The United Kingdom’s
withdrawal from the European Union could adversely affect our ability to realize those benefits and we may incur costs and suffer disruptions in our European
operations as a result. These possible negative impacts, and others resulting from the United Kingdom’s actual or threatened withdrawal from the European Union,
may adversely affect our operating results and growth prospects.
Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
As of December 31, 2016 , we had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income of approximately $204.9 million ,
which expire in various years beginning in 2025 , if not utilized. A lack of future taxable income would adversely affect our ability to utilize these NOLs. In
addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its
NOLs to offset future taxable income. We may have already experienced one or more ownership changes. Depending on the timing of any future utilization of our
carryforwards, we may be limited as to the amount that can be utilized each year as a result of such previous ownership changes. However, we do not believe such
limitations will cause our NOL and credit carryforwards to expire unutilized. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership as well as other changes that may
be outside of our control, could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired under
similar provisions of state law. We have recorded a full valuation allowance related to our NOLs and other deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate
realization of the future benefits of those assets.
Provisions of our debt instruments may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.
Our term loan agreement requires us, and any debt instruments we may enter into in the future may require us, to comply with various covenants that limit
our ability to, among other things:
• dispose of assets;
• complete mergers or acquisitions;
• incur indebtedness;
• encumber assets;
• pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of our capital stock;
• make specified investments;
• engage in any new line of business; and
• engage in certain transactions with our affiliates.
These restrictions could inhibit our ability to pursue our business strategies. In addition, we are subject to financial covenants based on total revenue and
minimum cash balances. If we default under our term loan agreement, and such event of default is not cured or waived, the lenders could terminate commitments
to lend and cause all amounts outstanding with respect to the debt to be due and payable immediately, which in turn could result in cross defaults under other debt
instruments. Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under all of our outstanding debt instruments if some or all of these
instruments are accelerated upon a default. We may incur additional indebtedness in the future. The debt instruments governing such indebtedness could contain
provisions that are as, or more, restrictive than our existing debt instruments. If we
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are unable to repay, refinance or restructure our indebtedness when payment is due, the lenders could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure such
indebtedness or force us into bankruptcy or liquidation.
Acquisitions or joint ventures could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders and otherwise harm our business.
We may acquire other businesses, products or technologies as well as pursue strategic alliances, joint ventures, technology licenses or investments in
complementary businesses. We have not made any acquisitions to date, and our ability to do so successfully is unproven. Any of these transactions could be
material to our financial condition and operating results and expose us to many risks, including:
• disruption in our relationships with customers, distributors or suppliers as a result of such a transaction;
• unanticipated liabilities related to acquired companies;
• difficulties integrating acquired personnel, technologies and operations into our existing business;
• diversion of management time and focus from operating our business;
• increases in our expenses and reductions in our cash available for operations and other uses; and
• possible write-offs or impairment charges relating to acquired businesses.
Foreign acquisitions involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to integration of operations across different
cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.
Also, the anticipated benefit of any strategic transaction may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result in potentially dilutive
issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm our
financial condition. We cannot predict the number, timing or size of future joint ventures or acquisitions, or the effect that any such transactions might have on our
operating results.
If we are unable to recruit, train and retain key personnel, we may not achieve our goals.
Our future success depends on our ability to recruit, train, retain and motivate key personnel, including our senior management, research and
development, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel. Competition for qualified personnel is intense, particularly in the Seattle, Washington area. Our
growth depends, in particular, on attracting, retaining and motivating highly-trained sales personnel with the necessary scientific background and ability to
understand our systems at a technical level to effectively identify and sell to potential new customers. We do not maintain fixed term employment contracts or key
man life insurance with any of our employees. Because of the complex and technical nature of our products and the dynamic market in which we compete, any
failure to attract, train, retain and motivate qualified personnel could materially harm our operating results and growth prospects.
Undetected errors or defects in our products could harm our reputation, decrease market acceptance of our products or expose us to product liability claims.
Our products may contain undetected errors or defects when first introduced or as new versions are released. Disruptions or other performance problems
with our products may damage our customers’ businesses, harm our reputation and result in reduced revenues. If that occurs, we may also incur significant costs,
the attention of our key personnel could be diverted, or other significant customer relations problems may arise. We may also be subject to warranty and liability
claims for damages related to errors or defects in our products. A material liability claim or other occurrence that harms our reputation or decreases market
acceptance of our products could adversely impact our business and operating results.
The sale and use of products or services based on our technologies, or activities related to our research and clinical studies, could lead to the filing of
product liability claims if someone were to allege that one of our products contained a design or manufacturing defect which resulted in the failure to adequately
perform the analysis for which it was designed. A product liability claim could result in substantial damages and be costly and time consuming to defend, either of
which could materially harm our business or financial condition. We cannot assure investors that our product liability insurance would adequately protect our
assets from the financial impact of defending a product liability claim. Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could increase our
product liability insurance rates or prevent us from securing insurance coverage in the future.
We face risks related to handling of hazardous materials and other regulations governing environmental safety.
Our operations are subject to complex and stringent environmental, health, safety and other governmental laws and regulations that both public officials
and private individuals may seek to enforce. Our activities that are subject to these
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regulations include, among other things, our use of hazardous materials and the generation, transportation and storage of waste. We could discover that we or an
acquired business are not in material compliance with these regulations. Existing laws and regulations may also be revised or reinterpreted, or new laws and
regulations may become applicable to us, whether retroactively or prospectively, that may have a negative effect on our business and results of operations. It is also
impossible to eliminate completely the risk of accidental environmental contamination or injury to individuals. In such an event, we could be liable for any
damages that result, which could adversely affect our business.
If we experience a significant disruption in our information technology systems or breaches of data security, our business could be adversely affected.
We rely on information technology systems to keep financial records, manage our manufacturing operations, fulfill customer orders, capture laboratory
data, maintain corporate records, communicate with staff and external parties and operate other critical functions. Our information technology systems are
potentially vulnerable to disruption due to breakdown, malicious intrusion and computer viruses or other disruptive events including but not limited to natural
disaster. If we were to experience a prolonged system disruption in our information technology systems or those of certain of our vendors, it could negatively
impact our ability to serve our customers, which could adversely impact our business. Although we maintain offsite back-ups of our data, if operations at our
facilities were disrupted, it may cause a material disruption in our business if we are not capable of restoring function on an acceptable timeframe. In addition, our
information technology systems are potentially vulnerable to data security breaches-whether by employees or others-which may expose sensitive data to
unauthorized persons. Such data security breaches could lead to the loss of trade secrets or other intellectual property, or could lead to the public exposure of
personal information (including sensitive personal information) of our employees, customers and others, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are unable to prevent such security breaches or privacy violations or implement satisfactory remedial
measures, our operations could be disrupted, and we may suffer loss of reputation, financial loss and other negative consequences because of lost or
misappropriated information. In addition, these breaches and other inappropriate access can be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying them may lead to
increased harm of the type described above.
Risks Related to Government Regulation and Diagnostic Product Reimbursement
Our “research use only” products for the research market could become subject to regulation as medical devices by the FDA or other regulatory agencies in
the future which could increase our costs and delay our commercialization efforts, thereby materially and adversely affecting our business and results of
operations.
In the United States, most of our products are currently labeled and sold for research use only, or RUO, and not for the diagnosis or treatment of disease,
and are sold to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic and government institutions and research laboratories. Because such products are not
intended for diagnostic use, and the products do not include clinical or diagnostic claims, or directions to use as diagnostic products, they are not subject to
regulation by the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, as medical devices. In particular, while the FDA regulations require that RUO products be labeled, “For
Research Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic procedures,” the regulations do not subject such products to the FDA’s pre- and post- market controls for medical
devices. Pursuant to FDA guidance on RUO products, a company may not make clinical or diagnostic claims about an RUO product or provide clinical directions
or clinical support services to customers for RUO products. If the FDA were to modify its approach to regulating products labeled for research use only, it could
reduce our revenue or increase our costs and adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations or financial condition. In the event that the FDA requires
marketing authorization of our RUO products in the future, there can be no assurance that the FDA will ultimately grant any clearance or approval requested by us
in a timely manner, or at all.
In addition, we sell dual-use instruments with software that has both FDA-cleared functions and research functions, for which FDA approval or clearance
is not required. Dual-use instruments are subject to FDA regulation since they are intended, at least in part, for use by customers performing clinical diagnostic
testing. In November 2014, FDA issued a guidance document that described FDA’s approach to regulating molecular diagnostic instruments that combine both
approved/cleared device functions and device functions for which approval/clearance is not required. There is a risk that the FDA could take enforcement action
against a manufacturer for distributing dual-use instruments if the company does not follow the restrictions discussed in the guidance document. For example, there
could be enforcement action if the FDA determines that approval or clearance was required for those functions for which FDA approval or clearance has not been
obtained, and the instruments are being promoted off-label. There is also a risk that the FDA could broaden its current regulatory enforcement of dual-use
instruments through additional FDA oversight of such products or impose additional requirements upon such products. The FDA has proposed that these devices
be exempt in the future from the requirement for FDA clearance. The comment period for the proposal closes on May 15, 2017.
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If Medicare and other third-party payors in the United States and foreign countries do not approve reimbursement for diagnostic tests enabled by our
technology, the commercial success of our diagnostic products would be compromised.
Successful commercialization of our diagnostic products depends, in large part, on the availability of adequate reimbursement for testing services that our
diagnostic products enable from government insurance plans, managed care organizations and private insurance plans. There is significant uncertainty surrounding
third-party reimbursement for the use of tests that incorporate new technology. For example, after the FDA clearance of Prosigna in September 2013, it took over
two years to achieve broad Medicare reimbursement of Prosigna testing.
If we are unable to obtain positive policy decisions from third-party payors approving reimbursement for our tests at adequate levels, the commercial
success of our products would be compromised and our revenue would be significantly limited. Even if we do obtain reimbursement for our tests, Medicare,
Medicaid and private and other payors may withdraw their coverage policies, cancel their contracts at any time, review and adjust the rate of reimbursement,
require co-payments from patients or stop paying for our tests, which would reduce revenue for testing services based on our technology, and indirectly, demand
for diagnostic products. In addition, insurers, including managed care organizations as well as government payors such as Medicare and Medicaid, have increased
their efforts to control the cost, utilization and delivery of healthcare services, which may include decreased coverage or reduced reimbursement. From time to
time, Congress has considered and implemented changes to the Medicare fee schedules in conjunction with budgetary legislation, and pricing and payment terms,
including the possible requirement of a patient co-payment for Medicare beneficiaries for tests covered by Medicare, and are subject to change at any time. Most
recently the Protecting Access to Medicare Act (PAMA) of 2014 revises the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule (CLFS) to base prices on commercial
payer rates that are reported to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). In June 2016, CMS released the final Clinical Diagnostic Tests Laboratory
Payment System regulations, in response to PAMA. The statute applies different reporting and payment requirements to Advanced Diagnostic Laboratory Tests
(ADLTs) and to Clinical Diagnostic Laboratory Tests (CDLTs). Under the definitions in the proposed rules, Prosigna would be defined as a CDLT and would be
repriced every three years based on a weighted median of commercial payments submitted by labs. As a result, if commercial payment amounts decline, there is a
risk that Medicare prices will fall as well, though PAMA limits these reductions to no more than 10% less than the prior year during calendar years 2018-2020 and
no more than 15% less during years 2021-2023. Reductions in the reimbursement rate of third-party payors have also occurred and may occur in the future.
Reductions in the prices at which testing services based on our technology are reimbursed could have a negative impact on our revenue.
In many countries outside of the United States, various coverage, pricing and reimbursement approvals are required. Recently, positive reimbursement
decisions for Prosigna have occurred in France, certain regions of Spain and Israel. Despite these positive developments, we continue to expect that it will take
several years to establish broad coverage and reimbursement for testing services based on our products with most payors in countries outside of the United States,
and our efforts may not be successful.
We continue to pursue positive reimbursement and coverage decisions from government insurance plans, managed care organizations and private
insurance plans. From time to time, if positive coverage decisions are obtained, we may publicly announce such decisions. In most cases where coverage is denied
by a third-party payor, there will be subsequent opportunities to submit additional information or clinical evidence and have such decision reconsidered. We intend
to evaluate the benefit of continued pursuit of a positive reimbursement determination on a case by case basis and in most cases expect to continue to pursue a
positive coverage decision with those payors based on additional information or subsequent clinical developments; as a result, we do not intend to publicly
announce any denials of coverage or the absence of a coverage determination on a regular basis.
Our nCounter Elements reagents may be used by clinical laboratories to create Laboratory-Developed Tests, which could in the future be the subject of
additional FDA regulation as medical devices, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
In February 2014, we launched nCounter Elements reagents, a new digital molecular barcoding chemistry that allows users to design their own
customized assays using standard sets of barcodes provided by us with the laboratories’ choice of oligonucleotide probes. nCounter Elements reagents may be used
by laboratories in conjunction with appropriate analyte-specific reagents and general purpose reagents to create diagnostic tests or test systems.
A clinical laboratory can use nCounter Elements reagents to create what is called a Laboratory Developed Test, or LDT. LDTs, according to the FDA, are
diagnostic tests that are developed, validated and performed by a single laboratory and include genetic tests. Historically, LDTs generally have not been subject to
FDA regulations. In October 2014, the FDA issued draft guidance documents proposing the use of a risk-based approach to regulating LDTs. Any restrictions on
LDTs by the FDA could decrease demand for our nCounter Elements reagents. Additionally, compliance with additional regulatory burdens could be time
consuming and costly for our customers. While FDA announced in November 2016 that it did not intend to seek
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finalization of the draft LDT guidances, Congress could enact legislation that could result in FDA regulation of some LDTs. If legislation were enacted, it could
adversely affect demand for our nCounter Elements reagents.
If we are unable to obtain additional regulatory clearances or approvals to market Prosigna in additional countries or if regulatory limitations are placed on
our diagnostic products, our business and growth will be harmed. In addition, if we do not obtain additional regulatory clearances or approvals necessary to
market products other than Prosigna for diagnostic purposes, we will be limited to marketing such products for research use only.
We have received regulatory clearance in the United States under a 510(k) for a version of our first diagnostic product, Prosigna, providing an assessment
of a patient’s risk of recurrence for breast cancer, and we have obtained a CE mark for Prosigna which permits us to market that assay for diagnostic purposes in
the European Union. We do not have regulatory clearance or approval to market in any additional markets, other than Israel, Canada, Turkey, New Zealand, Hong
Kong, Australia, Thailand, and Argentina, or to promote Prosigna in the United States for additional indications. Other than with respect to Prosigna in such
jurisdictions, we are limited to marketing our products for research use only, which means that we cannot make diagnostic or clinical claims. We intend to seek
regulatory authorizations to market Prosigna in other jurisdictions and, potentially, for other indications. In addition, pursuant to our collaborations with
pharmaceutical companies for the development of companion diagnostic tests for use with their drugs, we are responsible for obtaining regulatory authorizations
needed to use the companion diagnostic tests in clinical trials as well as the regulatory approvals to sell the companion diagnostic tests following completion of
such trials. Some of the compensation we expect to receive pursuant to these collaborations is based on the receipt of such approvals.
We cannot assure investors that we will be successful in obtaining these regulatory clearances or approvals. If we do not obtain additional regulatory
clearances or approvals to market future products or expand future indications for diagnostic purposes, if additional regulatory limitations are placed on our
products or if we fail to successfully commercialize such products, the market potential for our diagnostic products would be constrained, and our business and
growth prospects would be adversely affected.
Approval and/or clearance by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities for our diagnostic tests will take significant time and require significant research,
development and clinical study expenditures and ultimately may not succeed.
Before we begin to label and market our products for use as clinical diagnostics in the United States, thereby subjecting them to FDA regulation as
medical devices, unless an exemption applies we are required to obtain either prior 510(k) clearance or prior pre-market application approval, or PMA approval,
from the FDA. In September 2013, we received FDA 510(k) clearance for Prosigna as a prognostic indicator for distant recurrence-free survival at 10 years in postmenopausal women with Stage I/II lymph node-negative or Stage II lymph node-positive (1-3 positive nodes) hormone receptor-positive breast cancer who have
undergone surgery in conjunction with locoregional treatment and consistent with the standard of care. We may pursue additional intended uses for Prosigna that
require a PMA approval, which is a more burdensome regulatory process than the 510(k) clearance process. In addition, we are currently collaborating with
Celgene, Merck and Medivation and Astellas on companion diagnostics. In August 2014, the FDA issued a companion diagnostics final guidance stating that if the
device is essential to the safety or efficacy of the drug, the FDA generally will require approval or clearance for the device at the time when the FDA approves the
drug. The FDA stated in the companion diagnostics final guidance that while in some instances a companion diagnostic could come to market through a 510(k), the
Agency expects that companion diagnostics usually will require a PMA. In July 2016, the FDA issued a draft co-development companion diagnostic and
therapeutic guidance document which similarly reflected this information. The draft guidance appears to also relate, at least in part, to what may be considered
complementary diagnostics, i.e., diagnostics that do not meet the definition of an IVD companion diagnostic but are nonetheless beneficial for therapeutic product
development or clinical decision making. If we developed a diagnostic device that was cleared or approved apart from a therapeutic product, rather than as a
companion diagnostic, this may result in potentially reduced revenue for the test as the labeling of the drug would not reference the need for the diagnostic test.
Any 510(k) clearance or PMA approval we obtain for any future product would place substantial restrictions on how our device is marketed or sold. The
FDA will continue to place considerable restrictions on our products, including, but not limited to, the obligation to comply with the Quality System Regulation, or
QSR, registering manufacturing facilities, listing the products with the FDA, and complying with labeling, marketing, complaint handling, medical device
reporting requirements, and reporting certain corrections and removals. Obtaining FDA clearance or approval for diagnostics can be expensive and uncertain, and
generally takes from several months to several years from submission, and generally requires detailed and comprehensive scientific and clinical data, as well as
compliance with FDA regulations. In addition, we have limited experience in obtaining PMA approval from the FDA and are therefore supplementing our
operational capabilities to manage the more complex processes needed to obtain and maintain PMAs. Notwithstanding the expense, these efforts may never result
in FDA approval or clearance. Even if we were to obtain regulatory approval or clearance, it may not be for the uses we believe are important or commercially
attractive, in which case we would not market our product for those uses.
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Sales of our diagnostic products outside the United States are subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing clinical studies, vigilance reporting,
marketing approval, manufacturing, regulatory inspections, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement. These regulatory requirements vary greatly from country
to country. As a result, the time required to obtain approvals outside the United States may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval or clearance, and we
may not be able to obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all. Approval or clearance by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory
authorities in other countries, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval or clearance by regulatory authorities in other countries or
by the FDA, and foreign regulatory authorities could require additional testing beyond what the FDA requires. In addition, FDA regulates exports of medical
devices. Failure to comply with these regulatory requirements or to obtain required approvals or clearances could impair our ability to commercialize our
diagnostic products outside of the United States.
We expect to rely on third parties in conducting any future studies of our diagnostic products that may be required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities,
and to fulfill product registration requirements in foreign countries, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily.
We do not have the ability to independently conduct the clinical studies or other studies that may be required to obtain FDA and other regulatory
clearance or approval for our diagnostic products, including additional indications for Prosigna. Accordingly, we expect to rely on third parties, such as medical
institutions, clinical investigators, consultants, and collaborators to conduct such studies. Our reliance on these third parties for clinical development activities will
reduce our control over these activities. These third-party contractors may not complete activities on schedule or conduct studies in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our study design. Our reliance on third parties that we do not control will not relieve us of any applicable requirement to ensure compliance with
various procedures required under good clinical practices and regulatory requirements. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or
regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines, if the third parties need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to
their failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our studies may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated, and
we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for our diagnostic products.
In many countries, we are not permitted to directly apply for product registrations, and therefore must rely on third-party contractors or product
distributors resident in those countries to fulfill the product registration requirements. Our reliance on these third parties reduces our control over the registration
activities, and those parties may not appropriately register the products. Our reliance on third parties does not relieve us of the obligation to comply with applicable
requirements, and therefore any failure on the part of the third parties could subject us to enforcement action in the country in which the registration was not
properly fulfilled.
We are subject to ongoing and extensive regulatory requirements, and our failure to comply with these requirements could substantially harm our business.
Certain of our products are regulated as medical devices, including Prosigna, the nCounter Dx Analysis System and nCounter Elements reagents.
Accordingly, we and certain of our contract manufacturers are subject to ongoing International Organization for Standardization, or ISO, and FDA obligations and
continued regulatory oversight and review. These include routine inspections by EU Notified Bodies and by the FDA of our manufacturing facilities and our
records for compliance with requirements such as ISO 13485 and the QSR, which establish extensive requirements for quality assurance and control as well as
manufacturing and change control procedures. We are also subject to other regulatory obligations, such as requirements pertaining to the registration of our
manufacturing facilities and the listing of our devices with the FDA; continued complaint, adverse event and malfunction reporting; corrections and removals
reporting; and labeling and promotional requirements. Other agencies may also issue guidelines and regulations that could impact the development of our products,
including companion diagnostic tests. For example, the European Medicines Agency, a European Union agency which is responsible for the scientific evaluation of
medicines used in the EU, recently launched an initiative to determine guidelines for the use of genomic biomarkers in the development and life-cycle of drugs. It
is expected that in mid-2017 the European Union will adopt the IVD Directive Regulation, currently being finalized, which would increase the regulatory
requirements applicable to some in vitro diagnostics in the EU and would require that we re-classify and obtain pre-approval for our existing CE-marked IVD
products within a 5-year grace period. We may also be subject to additional FDA or global regulatory authority post-marketing obligations or requirements by the
FDA or global regulatory authority to change our current product classifications which would impose additional regulatory obligations on us. For example,
following discussions with the FDA regarding the appropriate classification for our nCounter Elements TagSets as General Purpose Reagents, we submitted a de
novo application to the FDA requesting classification of nCounter Elements TagSets as a Class I medical device. The FDA has requested additional information in
support of our application. The promotional claims we can make for Prosigna are limited to the cleared (or equivalent) indication. If we are not able to maintain
regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our medical device products and/or may be subject to enforcement by EU Competent Authorities and
the FDA and other global
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regulatory authority such as the issuance of warning or untitled letters, fines, injunctions, and civil penalties; recall or seizure of products; operating restrictions;
and criminal prosecution. In addition, we may be subject to similar regulatory regimes of foreign jurisdictions as we continue to commercialize our products in new
markets outside of the U.S. and Europe. Adverse Notified Body, EU Competent Authority or FDA or global regulatory authority action in any of these areas could
significantly increase our expenses and limit our revenue and profitability.
We may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and other federal and state laws applicable to our marketing
practices. If we are unable to comply, or have not complied, with such laws, we could face substantial penalties.
Our operations are directly, or indirectly through our customers, subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation,
the federal and state anti-kickback statutes and state and federal marketing compliance laws and gift bans. These laws may impact, among other things, our
proposed sales and marketing and education programs and require us to implement additional internal systems for tracking certain marketing expenditures and
reporting them to government authorities. In addition, we may be subject to patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we
conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:
• the federal Anti-kickback Law and state anti-kickback prohibitions;
• the federal physician self-referral prohibition, commonly known as the Stark Law, and the state equivalents;
• the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended;
• the Medicare civil money penalty and exclusion requirements;
• the federal False Claims Act civil and criminal penalties and state equivalents; and
• state physician gift bans and state and federal marketing expenditure disclosure laws.
If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject
to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
Healthcare policy changes, including legislation reforming the United States healthcare system, may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, collectively, the ACA, enacted in
March 2010, made changes that significantly impact the pharmaceutical and medical device industries and clinical laboratories. For example, beginning in 2013,
each medical device manufacturer must pay a sales tax in an amount equal to 2.3% of the price for which such manufacturer sells its medical devices. In December
2015, Congress passed a two-year suspension of the medical device tax from January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2017. Absent further legislative action, the medical
device tax would be reinstated January 1, 2018. The tax applies to our listed medical device products, which include the nCounter Dx Analysis System, Prosigna in
vitro diagnostic kits and nCounter Elements reagents. The Budget Control Act of 2011, contained automatic spending cuts to the federal budget known as
sequestration. As a result of sequestration, Medicare payments are reduced by 2% per year. For Prosigna this occurs through adjustment to the Clinical Laboratory
Fee Schedule. These or any future proposed or mandated reductions in payments may apply to some or all of the clinical laboratory tests that our customers use our
technology to deliver to Medicare beneficiaries, and may indirectly reduce demand for our products.
Other significant measures contained in the ACA include coordination and promotion of research on comparative clinical effectiveness of different
technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare payment methodologies, such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers and
physicians, and initiatives to promote quality indicators in payment methodologies. The ACA also includes significant new fraud and abuse measures, including
required disclosures of financial arrangements with physician customers, lower thresholds for violations and increasing potential penalties for such violations. In
addition, the ACA establishes an Independent Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, to reduce the per capita rate of growth in Medicare spending. The IPAB has
broad discretion to propose policies to reduce health care expenditures, which may have a negative impact on payment rates for services, including our tests. The
IPAB proposals may impact payments for clinical laboratory services that our customers use our technology to deliver beginning in 2016 and for hospital services
beginning in 2020, and may indirectly reduce demand for our products.
In addition to the ACA, the effect of which cannot presently be quantified, various healthcare reform proposals have also emerged from federal and state
governments. Changes in healthcare policy, such as the creation of broad test utilization limits for diagnostic products in general or requirements that Medicare
patients pay for portions of clinical laboratory tests or services received, could substantially impact the sales of our tests, increase costs and divert management’s
attention from our
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business. Such co-payments by Medicare beneficiaries for laboratory services were discussed as possible cost savings for the Medicare program as part of the debt
ceiling budget discussions in mid-2011 and may be enacted in the future. In addition, sales of our tests outside of the United States will subject us to foreign
regulatory requirements, which may also change over time.
We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives, including potential repeal of the ACA in whole or in part by Congress following the election of
President Trump, will be implemented at the federal or state level or in countries outside of the United States in which we may do business, or the effect any future
legislation or regulation will have on us. Changes in the United States healthcare industry may result in decreased profits to us, lower reimbursements by payors for
our products or reduced medical procedure volumes, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, our business would be harmed.
We rely on patent protection as well as trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property rights protection and contractual restrictions to
protect our proprietary technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive
advantage. As of March 31, 2017, we owned or licensed 15 issued U.S. patents and approximately 43 pending U.S. patent applications, including provisional and
non-provisional filings. We also owned or licensed approximately 217 pending and granted counterpart applications worldwide, including 90 country-specific
validations of 10 European patents. If we fail to protect our intellectual property, third parties may be able to compete more effectively against us and we may incur
substantial litigation costs in our attempts to recover or restrict use of our intellectual property.
We cannot assure investors that any of our currently pending or future patent applications will result in issued patents, and we cannot predict how long it
will take for such patents to be issued. Additionally, we cannot assure investors that our currently pending or future patent applications have or will be filed in all
of our potential markets. Further, we cannot assure investors that other parties will not challenge any patents issued to us or that courts or regulatory agencies will
hold our patents to be valid or enforceable. We cannot guarantee investors that we will be successful in defending challenges made against our patents and patent
applications. Any successful third-party challenge to our patents could result in the third party or the unenforceability or invalidity of such patents.
The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal
principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in such companies’ patents has emerged to date in the United States.
Furthermore, in the biotechnology field, courts frequently render opinions that may affect the patentability of certain inventions or discoveries, including opinions
that may affect the patentability of methods for analyzing or comparing DNA.
In particular, the patent positions of companies engaged in development and commercialization of genomic diagnostic tests, like Prosigna, are particularly
uncertain. Various courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court, have recently rendered decisions that impact the scope of patentability of certain inventions or
discoveries relating to genomic diagnostics. Specifically, these decisions stand for the proposition that patent claims that recite laws of nature (for example, the
relationships between gene expression levels and the likelihood of risk of recurrence of cancer) are not themselves patentable unless those patent claims have
sufficient additional features that provide practical assurance that the processes are genuine inventive applications of those laws rather than patent drafting efforts
designed to monopolize the law of nature itself. What constitutes a “sufficient” additional feature is uncertain. Furthermore, in view of these decisions, in
December 2014 the USPTO published revised guidelines for patent examiners to apply when examining process claims for patent eligibility. This guidance was
updated by the USPTO in July 2015 and additional illustrative examples provided in May 2016. The guidance indicates that claims directed to a law of nature, a
natural phenomenon, or an abstract idea that do not meet the eligibility requirements should be rejected as non‑statutory, patent ineligible subject matter. We
cannot assure you that our patent portfolio will not be negatively impacted by the current uncertain state of the law, new court rulings or changes in guidance or
procedures issued by the USPTO. From time to time, the U.S. Supreme Court, other federal courts, the U.S. Congress or the USPTO may change the standards of
patentability and validity of patents within the genomic diagnostic space, and any such changes could have a negative impact on our business.
The laws of some non-U.S. countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and many companies
have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain
developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology, which could
make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in
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substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.
Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual
property. We cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents. For example:
• We might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications.
• We might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions.
• Others may independently develop similar or alternative products and technologies or duplicate any of our products and technologies.
• It is possible that our pending patent applications will not result in issued patents, and even if they issue as patents, they may not provide a basis
for commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged and invalidated by third parties.
• We may not develop additional proprietary products and technologies that are patentable.
• The patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.
• We apply for patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate. However, we may fail to apply for
patents on important products and technologies in a timely fashion or at all.
In addition to pursuing patents on our technology, we take steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology by entering into
confidentiality agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, corporate partners and, when needed, our advisors.
Such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements, and we may not be able to prevent such unauthorized disclosure. Monitoring unauthorized
disclosure is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to prevent such disclosure are, or will be, adequate. If we were to enforce a claim that a
third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade secrets, it would be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition,
courts outside the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets.
In addition, competitors could purchase our products and attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our development
efforts, willfully infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected technology or develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside of
our intellectual property rights. If our intellectual property is not adequately protected so as to protect our market against competitors’ products and methods, our
competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business.
We have not yet registered certain of our trademarks in all of our potential markets. If we apply to register these trademarks, our applications may not be
allowed for registration, and our registered trademarks may not be maintained or enforced. In addition, opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against
our trademark applications and registrations, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. If we do not secure registrations for our trademarks, we may
encounter more difficulty in enforcing them against third parties than we otherwise would.
To the extent our intellectual property, including licensed intellectual property, offers inadequate protection, or is found to be invalid or unenforceable, we
would be exposed to a greater risk of direct competition. If our intellectual property does not provide adequate protection against our competitors’ products, our
competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business. Both the patent application process and the process of managing patent disputes can be
time consuming and expensive.
We depend on certain technologies that are licensed to us. We do not control these technologies and any loss of our rights to them could prevent us from
selling our products.
We rely on licenses in order to be able to use various proprietary technologies that are material to our business, including our core digital molecular
barcoding technology licensed from the Institute for Systems Biology, technology relating to Prosigna licensed from Bioclassifier, LLC and the intellectual
property relating to a gene signature for lymphoma subtyping from the National Institutes of Health for use in our collaboration with Celgene Corporation. We do
not own the patents that underlie these licenses. Our rights to use these technologies and employ the inventions claimed in the licensed patents are subject to the
continuation of and compliance with the terms of those licenses.
We may need to license other technologies to commercialize future products. We may also need to negotiate licenses to patents and patent applications
after launching any of our commercial products. Our business may suffer if the patents or patent applications are unavailable for license or if we are unable to enter
into necessary licenses on acceptable terms.
In some cases, we do not control the prosecution, maintenance, or filing of the patents to which we hold licenses, or
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the enforcement of these patents against third parties. Some of our patents and patent applications were either acquired from another company who acquired those
patents and patent applications from yet another company, or are licensed from a third party. Thus, these patents and patent applications are not written by us or our
attorneys, and we did not have control over the drafting and prosecution. The former patent owners and our licensors might not have given the same attention to the
drafting and prosecution of these patents and applications as we would have if we had been the owners of the patents and applications and had control over the
drafting and prosecution. We cannot be certain that drafting or prosecution of the licensed patents and patent applications by the licensors have been or will be
conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights.
Enforcement of our licensed patents or defense of any claims asserting the invalidity of these patents is often subject to the control or cooperation of our
licensors. Certain of our licenses contain provisions that allow the licensor to terminate the license upon specific conditions. Therefore, our business may suffer if
these licenses terminate, if the licensors fail to abide by the terms of the license or fail to prevent infringement by third parties or if the licensed patents or other
rights are found to be invalid. Our rights under the licenses are subject to our continued compliance with the terms of the license, including the payment of
royalties due under the license. Because of the complexity of our products and the patents we have licensed, determining the scope of the license and related
royalty obligation can be difficult and can lead to disputes between us and the licensor. An unfavorable resolution of such a dispute could lead to an increase in the
royalties payable pursuant to the license or termination of the license. If a licensor believed we were not paying the royalties due under the license or were
otherwise not in compliance with the terms of the license, the licensor might attempt to revoke the license. If such an attempt were successful, we might be barred
from producing and selling some or all of our products.
In addition, certain of the patents we have licensed relate to technology that was developed with U.S. government grants. Federal regulations impose
certain domestic manufacturing requirements with respect to some of our products embodying these patents.
We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and proprietary rights, to determine the scope, coverage and validity of others’ proprietary
rights, or to defend against third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, any of which could be time-intensive and costly and may adversely impact
our business or stock price.
We have received notices of claims of infringement and misappropriation or misuse of other parties’ proprietary rights in the past and may from time to
time receive additional notices. Some of these claims may lead to litigation. We cannot assure investors that we will prevail in such actions, or that other actions
alleging misappropriation or misuse by us of third-party trade secrets, infringement by us of third-party patents and trademarks or other rights, or the validity of our
patents, trademarks or other rights, will not be asserted or prosecuted against us.
Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce our patent and proprietary rights or to determine the scope, coverage and validity of the proprietary rights of
others. Litigation could result in substantial legal fees and could adversely affect the scope of our patent protection. The outcome of any litigation or other
proceeding is inherently uncertain and might not be favorable to us, and we might not be able to obtain licenses to technology that we require. Even if such licenses
are obtainable, they may not be available at a reasonable cost. We could therefore incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses obtained from
third parties, which could negatively affect our gross margins. Further, we could encounter delays in product introductions, or interruptions in product sales, as we
develop alternative methods or products. In addition, if we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity, scope
and coverage of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive, even if we were to prevail. Any
litigation that may be necessary in the future could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results or financial condition.
As we move into new markets and applications for our products, incumbent participants in such markets may assert their patents and other proprietary
rights against us as a means of slowing our entry into such markets or as a means to extract substantial license and royalty payments from us. In addition,
competitors may develop their own versions of our tests in countries where we did not apply for patents, where our patents have not issued or where our
intellectual property rights are not recognized and compete with us in those countries and markets. Our competitors and others may now and in the future have
significantly larger and more mature patent portfolios than we currently have. In addition, future litigation may involve patent holding companies or other adverse
patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may provide little or no deterrence or protection. Therefore, our
commercial success may depend in part on our non-infringement of the patents or proprietary rights of third parties. We are aware of a third party, Genomic
Health, Inc., that has issued patents and pending patent applications in the United States, Europe and other jurisdictions that claim methods of using certain genes
that are included in Prosigna. We believe that Prosigna does not infringe any valid issued claim. Numerous significant intellectual property issues have been
litigated, and will likely continue to be litigated, between existing and new participants in our existing and targeted markets and competitors may assert that our
products infringe their intellectual property rights as part of a business strategy to impede our successful entry into those markets. Third parties may assert that we
are
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employing their proprietary technology without authorization. In addition, we may be unaware of pending third-party patent applications that relate to our
technology and our competitors and others may have patents or may in the future obtain patents and claim that use of our products infringes these patents. We
could incur substantial costs and divert the attention of our management and technical personnel in defending against any of these claims. Parties making claims
against us may be able to obtain injunctive or other relief, which could block our ability to develop, commercialize and sell products, and could result in the award
of substantial damages against us. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may be required to pay damages and obtain one or more
licenses from third parties, or be prohibited from selling certain products. We may not be able to obtain these licenses at a reasonable cost, if at all. We could
therefore incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses obtained from third parties, which could negatively affect our gross margins. In addition,
we could encounter delays in product introductions while we attempt to develop alternative methods or products to avoid infringing third-party patents or
proprietary rights. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these licenses on favorable terms could prevent us from commercializing products, and the
prohibition of sale of any of our products could materially affect our ability to grow and gain market acceptance for our products.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, during the course of this kind of litigation, there could be
public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to
be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
In addition, our agreements with some of our suppliers, distributors, customers, collaborators and other entities with whom we do business require us to
defend or indemnify these parties to the extent they become involved in infringement claims against us, including the claims described above. We could also
voluntarily agree to defend or indemnify third parties in instances where we are not obligated to do so if we determine it would be important to our business
relationships. If we are required or agree to defend or indemnify any of these third parties in connection with any infringement claims, we could incur significant
costs and expenses that could adversely affect our business, operating results, or financial condition.
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our employees’
former employers.
Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other life sciences companies, including our competitors or potential competitors.
Although no claims against us are currently pending, we or our employees may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise
used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in
defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. A loss of key research personnel work product
could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize certain potential products, which could severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending
against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
Our products contain third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could
restrict our ability to sell our products.
Our products contain software tools licensed by third-party authors under “open source” licenses. Use and distribution of open source software may entail
greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding
infringement claims or the quality of the code. Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative
works we create based upon the type of open source software we use. If we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we
could, under certain open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to
create similar products with less development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of product sales.
Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend, the terms of many open source
licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or
restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. Moreover, we cannot assure investors that our processes for controlling our use of open source software
in our products will be effective. If we are held to have breached the terms of an open source software license, we could be required to seek licenses from third
parties to continue offering our products on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our products, to discontinue the sale of our products if reengineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, or to make generally available, in source code form, our proprietary code, any of which could adversely
affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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We use third-party software that may be difficult to replace or cause errors or failures of our products that could lead to lost customers or harm to our
reputation.
We use software licensed from third parties in our products. In the future, this software may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at
all. Any loss of the right to use any of this software could result in delays in the production of our products until equivalent technology is either developed by us,
or, if available, is identified, obtained and integrated, which could harm our business. In addition, any errors or defects in third-party software, or other third-party
software failures could result in errors, defects or cause our products to fail, which could harm our business and be costly to correct. Many of these providers
attempt to impose limitations on their liability for such errors, defects or failures, and if enforceable, we may have additional liability to our customers or thirdparty providers that could harm our reputation and increase our operating costs.
We will need to maintain our relationships with third-party software providers and to obtain software from such providers that does not contain any errors
or defects. Any failure to do so could adversely impact our ability to deliver reliable products to our customers and could harm our results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate substantially. The trading price of our common stock depends on a
number of factors, including those described in this “Risk Factors” section, many of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating
performance. These fluctuations could cause stockholders to lose all or part of their investment in our common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the
trading price of our common stock include the following:
• actual or anticipated quarterly variation in our results of operations or the results of our competitors;
• announcements by us or our competitors of new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships or capital commitments;
• failure to obtain or delays in obtaining product approvals or clearances from the FDA or foreign regulators;
• adverse regulatory or reimbursement announcements;
• issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations for our stock;
• developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
• commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;
• market conditions in the research and diagnostics markets;
• manufacturing disruptions;
• any future sales of our common stock or other securities;
• any change to the composition of the board of directors or key personnel;
• announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
• general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets; and
• the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.
The stock market in general, and market prices for the securities of life sciences and diagnostic companies like ours in particular, have from time to time
experienced volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of the underlying companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In several recent situations where the market price of a stock has
been volatile, holders of that stock have instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders were to
bring a lawsuit against us, the defense and disposition of the lawsuit could be costly and divert the time and attention of our management and harm our operating
results.
An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.
Although our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market, the market for our shares has demonstrated varying levels of trading activity and
the current level of trading may not be sustained in the future. Purchases or sales of large blocks of our shares relative to the trading volume on a given day can
have a disproportionate effect on the price of our common stock. The lack of an active market for our common stock or significant and rapid changes in the price of
our common
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stock may impair investors’ ability to sell their shares at the time they wish to sell them or at a price that they consider reasonable, may reduce the fair market value
of their shares and may impair our ability to raise capital.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse opinion about our business, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our
business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us issues an adverse opinion about our company, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these
analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price
or trading volume to decline.
Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.
Our stock price could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of our common stock or the perception that these sales could occur. These
sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we
deem appropriate.
Holders of approximately 3.4 million shares (including shares underlying outstanding warrants), or approximately 16% , of our outstanding shares as of
March 31, 2017 , have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering the sale of their shares or to include their shares in
registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. We also register the offer and sale of all shares of common stock that we may issue
under our equity compensation plans.
In addition, in the future, we may issue additional shares of common stock or other equity or debt securities convertible into common stock in connection
with a financing, acquisition, litigation settlement, employee arrangements or otherwise. Any such future issuance could result in substantial dilution to our
existing stockholders and could cause our stock price to decline.
Our officers and directors, and their respective affiliates, own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exercise significant influence over
matters subject to stockholder approval.
Our executive officers and directors together with their respective affiliates, own approximately 19% of our outstanding common stock as of March 31,
2017 . Accordingly, our executive officers and directors together with their respective affiliates, will be able to exert significant influence over matters submitted to
our stockholders for approval, as well as our management and affairs. This concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in
our control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our stock
price and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove the board of directors or management.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware or Washington law could make an acquisition of us difficult, limit attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit our stock price.
Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or discourage transactions involving an actual or potential change in our control or
change in our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares, or transactions that our stockholders
might otherwise deem to be in their best interests. Therefore, these provisions could adversely affect the price of our stock. Among other things, the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws:
• permit the board of directors to issue up to 15,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may
designate;
• provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of the board of directors;
• provide that all vacancies, including newly-created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote of a
majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;
• divide the board of directors into three classes;
• provide that a director may only be removed from the board of directors by the stockholders for cause;
• require that any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not
be taken by written consent;
• provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at a
meeting of stockholders must provide notice in writing in a timely manner, and meet specific requirements as to the form and content of a
stockholder’s notice;
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•
•
•

prevent cumulative voting rights (therefore allowing the holders of a plurality of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of
directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose);
provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, our chief executive officer or by the board of
directors; and
provide that stockholders are permitted to amend the bylaws only upon receiving at least two-thirds of the total votes entitled to be cast by
holders of all outstanding shares then entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three
years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. Likewise, because our principal executive offices are located in
Washington, the anti-takeover provisions of the Washington Business Corporation Act may apply to us under certain circumstances now or in the future. These
provisions prohibit a “target corporation” from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any stockholder constituting an “acquiring person”
for a period of five years following the date on which the stockholder became an “acquiring person.”
We are an “emerging growth company,” and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act, enacted in April 2012, and, for as long
as we continue to be an “emerging growth company,” we have chosen to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other
public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to have our independent registered public accounting
firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports
and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an “emerging growth company” until December 31, 2018, although, if we have more than
$1.0 billion in annual revenue, if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of any year, or we issue
more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period before the end of that five-year period, we would cease to be an “emerging growth
company” as of the following December 31. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of these exemptions, there may be a less active
trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be lower and be more volatile.
As an “emerging growth company” the JOBS Act allows us to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public
companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period under the JOBS Act. As a
result, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised
accounting standards that are applicable to public companies, which may make our common stock less attractive to investors.
Complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies increases our costs and the demands on management and could harm our operating
results.
As a public company, and particularly after we cease to be an “emerging growth company,” we incur and will continue to incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules subsequently implemented by the SEC
and The NASDAQ Global Market impose numerous requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices. Also, the
Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. Our management
and other personnel must devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these laws and regulations. These burdens may increase as new legislation is
passed and implemented, including any new requirements that the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 may impose on public
companies. These requirements have increased and will likely continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs and have made and will
continue to make some activities more time consuming and costly. For example, as a public company it is more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance, and in the future we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or to incur substantial costs to maintain
the same or similar coverage. These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of
directors or our board committees or as executive officers.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we assess the effectiveness of our internal control over
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financial reporting annually and the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures quarterly. In particular, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or
Section 404, requires us to perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on,
and our independent registered public accounting firm potentially to attest to, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. As an “emerging
growth company,” we are availing ourselves of the exemption from the requirement that our independent registered public accounting firm attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404. However, we may no longer avail ourselves of this exemption when we cease to be
an “emerging growth company.” When our independent registered public accounting firm is required to undertake an assessment of our internal control over
financial reporting, the cost of our compliance with Section 404 will correspondingly increase. Our compliance with applicable provisions of Section 404 will
require that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management time on compliance-related issues as we implement additional corporate
governance practices and comply with reporting requirements. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 applicable to us in a
timely manner, or if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are deemed
to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory
authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.
Furthermore, investor perceptions of our company may suffer if deficiencies are found, and this could cause a decline in the market price of our stock.
Irrespective of compliance with Section 404, any failure of our internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our stated operating
results and harm our reputation. If we are unable to implement these requirements effectively or efficiently, it could harm our operations, financial reporting, or
financial results and could result in an adverse opinion on our internal control over financial reporting from our independent registered public accounting firm.
The SEC adopted its final rule implementing Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act concerning conflict
minerals in August 2012. The rule requires us to submit forms and reports to the SEC annually to disclose our determinations and due diligence measures. We have
filed Form SD for the year ended December 31, 2015 and included a Conflict Minerals Report as an exhibit to such form. We do not directly purchase any conflict
minerals. However, tracing these materials back to their country of origin is a complex task that required us to, among other things, survey suppliers in our supply
chain to understand what programs they have in place for tracing the source of minerals supplied to us or used in products supplied to us and to ensure that
reasonable due diligence has been performed. However, we have not determined how many, or if any, of our supply chain partners use conflict minerals.
Moreover, we may face a limited pool of suppliers who can provide us “conflict-free” components, parts and manufactured products, and we may not be able to
obtain conflict-free products or supplies in sufficient quantities or at competitive prices for our operations, and may be required to disclose that our products are not
“conflict free.” This could adversely affect our reputation and may harm relationships with business partners and customers, and our stock price could suffer as a
result.
Item 6.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

*

Description

10.1

Amendment No 3 to Term Loan Agreement dated February 17, 2017, between the Registrant and Capital Royalty Partners II L.P., Capital
Royalty Partners II (Cayman) L.P., Capital Royalty Partners II – Parallel Fund “B” (Cayman) L.P. and Parallel Investment Opportunities Partners
II L.P.

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

32.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

The Certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of
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NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or
after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Date:

May 5, 2017

By:

/s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

May 5, 2017

By:

/s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

*

Description

10.1

Amendment No 3 to Term Loan Agreement dated February 17, 2017, between the Registrant and Capital Royalty Partners II L.P., Capital
Royalty Partners II (Cayman) L.P., Capital Royalty Partners II – Parallel Fund “B” (Cayman) L.P. and Parallel Investment Opportunities
Partners II L.P.

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

32.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

The Certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Exhibit 10.1
AMENDMENT AGREEMENT NO. 3
THIS AMENDMENT AGREEMENT NO. 3 (this “Amendment”), dated as of February 17, 2017, is made among NanoString Technologies, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), the Subsidiary Guarantors listed on the signature pages hereof under the heading “SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS” (each
a “Subsidiary Guarantor” and, collectively, the “Subsidiary Guarantors”, and together with the Borrower, each an “Obligor” and, collectively, the “Obligors”) and
the Lenders listed on the signature pages hereof under the heading “LENDERS” (each a “Lender” and, collectively, the “Lenders”).
The Obligors and the Lenders are parties to that certain Term Loan Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2014, amended by that certain Amendment
Agreement No. 1, dated as of April 16, 2015, as further amended by that certain Amendment Agreement No. 2, dated as of October 30, 2015 (as further amended,
amended and restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”).
The parties hereto desire to amend the Loan Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
Accordingly, the parties hereto agree as follows:
SECTION 1

Definitions; Interpretation.

(a)
Terms Defined in Loan Agreement . All capitalized terms used in this Amendment (including in the recitals hereof) and not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Loan Agreement.
(b)
Interpretation . The rules of interpretation set forth in Section 1.03 of the Loan Agreement shall be applicable to this Amendment and are
incorporated herein by this reference.
SECTION 2

Amendments.

Subject to Section 3 , the Loan Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(a)

Section 3.03(a) of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“ Optional Prepayments . Borrower shall have the right to optionally prepay in whole or in part the outstanding principal amount of the Loans on any
Payment Date (a “ Redemption Date ”) for an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Loans being prepaid plus the Prepayment Premium plus any
accrued but unpaid interest and any fees which are due and owing (such aggregate amount, the “ Redemption Price ”). The applicable “ Prepayment Premium ”
shall be an amount calculated pursuant to Section 3.03(a)(i) .”
SECTION 3

Conditions of Effectiveness.

The effectiveness of Section 2 shall be subject to the following conditions precedent:
(a)
SECTION 4

The Obligors and all of the Lenders shall have duly executed and delivered this Amendment.
Representations and Warranties; Reaffirmation.

(a)
Each Obligor hereby ratifies, confirms, reaffirms, and acknowledges its obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party and
agrees that the Loan Documents remain in full force and effect, undiminished by this Amendment, except as expressly provided herein. By executing this
Amendment, each Obligor acknowledges that it has read, consulted with its attorneys regarding, and understands, this Amendment.
SECTION 5

Governing Law; Submission To Jurisdiction; Waiver Of Jury Trial.

(a)
Governing Law . This Amendment and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be governed by, and construed in accordance
with, the law of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws that would result in the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction;
provided that Section 5-1401 of the New York General Obligations Law shall apply.
(b)
Submission to Jurisdiction . Each Obligor agrees that any suit, action or proceeding with respect to this Amendment or any other Loan
Document to which it is a party or any judgment entered by any court in respect thereof may be brought initially in the federal or state courts in Houston, Texas or
in the courts of its own corporate domicile and irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of each such court for the purpose of any such suit, action,
proceeding or judgment. This Section 5 is for the benefit of the Lenders only and, as a result, no Lender shall be prevented from taking proceedings in any other
courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by applicable Laws, the Lenders may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.
(c)
Waiver of Jury Trial . Each Obligor and each Lender hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and
all right to trial by jury in any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Amendment, the other Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby.
SECTION 6

Miscellaneous.

(a)
No Waiver . Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of compliance with any term or condition contained in the
Loan Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or constitute a course of conduct or dealing among the parties. Except as expressly stated herein, the Lenders
reserve all rights, privileges and remedies under the Loan Documents. Except as amended hereby, the Loan Agreement and other Loan Documents remain
unmodified and in full force and effect. All references in the Loan Documents to the Loan Agreement shall be deemed to be references to the Loan Agreement as
amended hereby.
(b)

Severability . In case any provision of or obligation under this Amendment shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the

(b)
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be
affected or impaired thereby.
(c)
Headings . Headings and captions used in this Amendment (including the Exhibits, Schedules and Annexes hereto, if any) are included for
convenience of reference only and shall not be given any substantive effect.
(d)
Integration . This Amendment constitutes a Loan Document and, together with the other Loan Documents, incorporates all negotiations of
the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and is the final expression and agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof.
(e)
Counterparts . This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the
same instrument and any of the parties hereto may execute this Amendment by signing any such counterpart.
(f)
Controlling Provisions . In the event of any inconsistencies between the provisions of this Amendment and the provisions of any other Loan
Document, the provisions of this Amendment shall govern and prevail. Except as expressly modified by this Amendment, the Loan Documents shall not be
modified and shall remain in full force and effect.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Amendment, as of the date first above written.

BORROWER
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
By /s/ James A. Johnson
Name: James A. Johnson
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Address for Notices:
530 Fairview Avenue, N.
Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98109
Attn: General Counsel
Tel.: 206-378-6266
Fax: 206-378-6288
Email: ksmith@nanostring.com

SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By /s/ James A. Johnson
Name: James A. Johnson
Title: Treasurer
Address for Notices:
530 Fairview Avenue, N.
Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98109
Attn: General Counsel
Tel.: 206-378-6266
Fax: 206-378-6288
Email: ksmith@nanostring.com

LENDERS
CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II L.P.
By: CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II GP L.P., its General Partner
By: CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II GP LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Nate Hukill
Name: Nate Hukill
Title: Authorized Signatory
PARALLEL INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITIES
PARTNERS II L.P.
By: PARALLEL INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITIES PARTNERS II GP L.P., its General Partner

By: PARALLEL INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITIES PARTNERS II GP LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Nate Hukill
Name: Nate Hukill
Title: Authorized Signatory
CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II (CAYMAN) L.P.
By: CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II (CAYMAN) GP L.P., its General Partner
By: CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II (CAYMAN) GP LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Nate Hukill
Name: Nate Hukill
Title: Authorized Signatory

WITNESS:
/s/ Nicole Nesson
Name: Nicole Nesson
CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II PARALLEL FUND “B” (CAYMAN) L.P.
By: CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II (CAYMAN) GP L.P., its General Partner
By: CAPITAL ROYALTY PARTNERS II GP LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Nate Hukill
Name: Nate Hukill
Title: Authorized Signatory

WITNESS:
/s/ Nicole Nesson
Name: Nicole Nesson

Address for Notices for All Lenders:
1000 Main Street, Suite 2500
Houston, TX 77002
Attn: General Counsel
Tel.: 713.209.7350
Fax: 713.209.7351
Email: adorenbaum@crglp.com

1

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, R. Bradley Gray, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NanoString Technologies, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: May 5, 2017
/s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, James A. Johnson, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NanoString Technologies, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: May 5, 2017
/s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NanoString Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 , as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, R. Bradley Gray, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: May 5, 2017
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification accompanies the Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Exhibit 32.2
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NanoString Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 , as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James A. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: May 5, 2017
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
This certification accompanies the Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

